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Management’s responsibility 
for financial reporting 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Just Energy Group Inc. and all the information in this annual report are the 

responsibility of management and have been approved by the Board of Directors. 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards. The consolidated financial statements include some amounts that are based on estimates and judgments. Management has 

determined such amounts on a reasonable basis in order to ensure that the consolidated financial statements are presented fairly, in all 

material respects. Financial information presented elsewhere in this annual report has been prepared on a consistent basis with that in 

the consolidated financial statements. 

Just Energy Group Inc. maintains systems of internal accounting and administrative controls. These systems are designated to provide 

reasonable assurance that the financial information is relevant, reliable and accurate and that the Company assets are properly accounted 

for and adequately safeguarded. 

The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that management fulfills its responsibilities for financial reporting and is ultimately 

responsible for reviewing and approving the consolidated financial statements. The Board carries out this responsibility principally through 

its Audit Committee. 

The Audit Committee is appointed by the Board of Directors and is composed entirely of non-management directors. The Audit Committee 

meets periodically with management and the external auditors, to discuss auditing, internal controls, accounting policy and financial 

reporting matters. The committee reviews the consolidated financial statements with both management and the external auditors and 

reports its findings to the Board of Directors before such statements are approved by the Board. 

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, the external auditors, in accordance with Canadian 

generally accepted auditing standards on behalf of the shareholders. The external auditors have full and free access to the Audit 

Committee, with and without the presence of management, to discuss their audit and their findings as to the integrity of the financial 

reporting and the effectiveness of the system of internal controls. 

On behalf of Just Energy Group Inc. 

Ken Hartwick 	 Beth Summers 

Chief Executive Officer and President 	 Chief Financial Officer 
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Independent auditors’ report 

To the Shareholders of Just Energy Group Inc. 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Just Energy Group Inc., which comprise the consolidated statements 

of financial position as at March 31, 2012 and 2011, and April 1, 2010, and the consolidated statements of income (loss), comprehensive 

income (loss), shareholders’ deficit and cash flows for the years ended March 31, 2012 and 2011, and a summary of significant accounting 

policies and other explanatory information 

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated 

financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits 

in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 

and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from 

material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. 

The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated 

financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the 

entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 

the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 

evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as 

evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Just Energy Group Inc. 

as at March 31, 2012 and 2011, and April 1, 2010, and the results of its financial performance and its cash flows for the years ended March 31, 

2012 and 2011 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

Toronto, Canada, 
	 Chartered Accountants 

May 17, 2012. 
	 Licensed Public Accountants 



Consolidated statements of financial position 
As at 

(thousands of Canadian dollars) 

March 31, March 31, April 1, 
Notes 2012 2011 2010 

ASSETS 
Non-current assets 

Property, plant and equipment 5 $ 	291,061 $ 	234,002 $ 	216,676 
Intangible assets 6 543,775 640,219 528,854 
Contract initiation costs 44,225 29,654 5,587 
Other non-current financial assets 11 15,315 5,384 5,027 
Non-current receivables 6,475 4,569 2,014 
Deferred tax asset 16 78,398 121,785 265,107 

979,249 1,035,613 1,023,265 
Current assets 

Inventory  8 9,988 6,906 6,323 
Gas delivered in excess of consumption 12,844 3,481 7,410 
Gas in storage 11,453 6,133 4,058 
Current trade and other receivables 299,945 281,685 232,579 
Accrued gas receivables 2,875 26,535 20,793 
Unbilled revenues 130,796 112,147 61,070 
Prepaid expenses and deposits 9,451 6,079 20,038 
Other current assets 11 12,799 3,846 2,703 
Corporate tax recoverable 8,225 9,135 - 
Restricted cash 7 12,199 833 18,650 
Cash and cash equivalents 53,220 97,633 60,132 

563,795 554,413 433,756 

TOTAL ASSETS $1,543,044 $1,590,026 $1,457,021 

DEFICIT AND LIABILITIES 
Deficit attributable to equity holders of the parent 

Deficit $(1,652,188) $ (1,349,928) $ (1,556,669) 
Accumulated other comprehensive income 12 70,293 123,919 221,969 
Unitholders’ capital - - 777,856 
Shareholders’ capital 13 993,181 963,982 - 
Equity component of convertible debenture 15 25,795 18,186 - 
Contributed surplus 62,147 52,723 - 

Shareholders’ deficit (500,772) (191,118) (556,844) 
Non-controlling interest (637) - 20,421 

TOTAL DEFICIT (501,409) (191,118) (536,423) 

Non-current liabilities 
Long-term debt 15 679,072 507,460 231,837 
Provisions 17 3,068 3,244 3,124 
Deferred lease inducements 1,778 1,622 1,984 
Other non-current financial liabilities 11 309,617 355,412 590,572 
Deferred tax liability 16 6,073 22,919 6,776 
Liability associated with Exchangeable Shares and equity-based compensation 	29 - - 181,128 

999,608 890,657 1,015,421 
Current liabilities 

Bank indebtedness 1,060 2,314 8,236 
Trade and other payables 287,145 275,503 177,368 
Accrued gas payable 2,960 19,353 15,093 
Deferred revenue 11,985 - 7,202 
Unit distribution payable - - 13,182 
Income taxes payable 4,814 9,788 6,410 
Current portion of long-term debt 15 97,611 94,117 61,448 
Provisions 17 3,226 4,006 3,884 
Other current financial liabilities 11 636,044 485,406 685,200 

1,044,845 890,487 978,023 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,044,453 1,781,144 1,993,444 

TOTAL DEFICIT AND LIABILITIES $1,543,044 $1,590,026 $1,457,021 

Guarantees (Note 23) Commitments (Note 26) 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements 

Approved on behalf of Just Energy Group Inc. 

Rebecca MacDonald, Executive Chair Michael Kirby, Corporate Director 
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Consolidated statements of income (loss) 
For the years ended March 31 

(thousands of Canadian dollars, except where indicated and per share amounts) 

Notes 2012 2011 

SALES 19 $2,785,269 $ 2,953,192 

COST OF SALES 18(b) 2,267,780 2,471,630 

GROSS MARGIN 517,489 481,562 

EXPENSES 

Administrative expenses 122,397 109,400 

Selling and marketing expenses 177,302 133,607 

Other operating expenses 18(a) 154,357 165,575 

454,056 408,582 

Operating profit 63,433 72,980 

Finance costs 15 (60,935) (59,883) 

Change in fair value of derivative instruments 11 (96,345) 506,047 

Proportionate share of loss from joint venture 10 (1,971) - 

Other income 6,702 7,235 

Income (loss) before income taxes (89,116) 526,379 

Provision for income taxes 16 37,527 173,439 

PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR $ 	(126,643) $ 	352,940 

Attributable to: 

Shareholders of Just Energy 

Non-controlling interest 

PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements 

Profit (loss) per share 

Basic 

Diluted 

$ (126,522) $ 355,076 

(121) 	(2,136) 

$ (126,643) $ 352,940 

21 

$ 	(092) $ 	2.77 

S 	(0.92) $ 	2.40 

0 
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Consolidated statements of comprehensive 
income (loss) 
For the years ended March 31 

(thousands of Canadian dollars) 

	

Notes 	 2012 	 2011 

Profit (loss) for the year 	 $ (126,643) $ 352,940 

Other comprehensive income (loss) 	 12 

Unrealized gain on translation of foreign operations 	 2,386 	449 

Amortization of deferred unrealized gain of discontinued hedges, net of 

income taxes of $13,150 (2011 - $21,384) 	 (56,012) 	(98,499) 

Other comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax 	 (53,626) 	(98,050) 

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year, net of tax 	 $ (180,269) $ 254,890 

Total comprehensive income (loss) attributable to 

Shareholders of Just Energy 	 $ (180,148) $ 257,026 

Non-controlling interest 	 (121) 	(2,136) 

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year, net of tax 	 $ (180,269) $ 254,890 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements 
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Consolidated statements of shareholders’ deficit 
For the years ended March 31 

(thousands of Canadian dollars) 

Notes 	2012 	2011 

F- 

0 

z z 

0 

ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE SHAREHOLDERS/UNITHOLDERS 

Accumulated deficit 

Accumulated deficit, beginning of year 

Loss on cancellation of shares 

Profit (loss) for the year, attributable to the shareholders 

Accumulated deficit, end of year 

DISTRIBUTIONS/DIVIDENDS 

Distributions and dividends, beginning of year 

Distributions and dividends 

Distributions and dividends, end of year 

DEFICIT 

ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

Accumulated other comprehensive income, beginning of year 

Other comprehensive loss 

Accumulated other comprehensive income, end of year 

SHAREHOLDERS’/UNITHOLDERS’ CAPITAL 

Shareholders’/Unitholders’ capital, beginning of year 

Shares/units exchanged and issued 

Shares/units issued on exercise/exchange of unit compensation 

Repurchase and cancellation of shares 

Dividend reinvestment plan 

Shareholders’/Unitholders’ capital, end of year 

EQUITY COMPONENT OF CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES 

Balance, beginning of year 

Allocations of new convertible debentures issued 

Future tax impact on convertible debentures 

Balance, end of year 

CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS 

Balance, beginning of year 

Reclassification on conversion 

Gain on acquisition of non-controlling interest 

Add: Share-based compensation awards 

Non-cash deferred share grant distributions 

Less: Share-based awards exercised 

Balance, end of year 

NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST 

Balance, beginning of year 

Non-controlling interest acquired 

Foreign exchange on non-controlling interest 

Acquisition of non-controlling interest 

Net loss attributable to non-controlling interest 

Balance, end of year 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements 

S (315,934) $ (671,010) 

13 	(356) 	 - 

	

(126,522) 	355,076 

	

(442,812) 	(31 5,934) 

	

(1,033,994) 	(885,659) 

25 	(175,382) 	(148,335) 

	

(1,209,376) 	(1,033,994) 

$ (1,652,188) $ (1,349,928) 

12 

	

$ 123,919 	$ 221,969 

	

(53,626) 	(98,050) 

	

$70,293 	$ 123,919 

13 

	

$ 963,982 	$ 777,856 

	

- 	158,520 

	

1,385 	1,559 

	

(599) 	 - 

	

28,413 	26,047 

	

5 993,181 	$ 963,982 

15 

$ 	18,186 	$ 	- 

	

10,188 	33,914 

	

(2,579) 	(15,728) 

$ 	25,795 	$ 	18,186 

$ 	52,723 	$ - 

� 43,147 

- 7,957 

10,662 2,683 

147 33 

(1,385) (1,097) 

S 	62,147 	$ 52,723 

S 	 $ 	20,421 

9 	(540) 	 - 

24 	 - 

(18,285) 

(121) 	(2,136) 

S 	(637) $ 	- 



Consolidated statements of cash flows 
For the years ended March 31 

(thousands of Canadian dollars) 

Notes 	 2012 2011 

Net inflow (outflow) of cash related to the following activities 

OPERATING 

Income before income taxes $ 	(89,116) $ 	526,379 

Items not affecting cash 

Amortization of intangible assets and related supply contracts 108,233 120,841 

Amortization of contract initiation costs 13,977 12,429 

Amortization of property, plant and equipment 5,847 5,698 

Amortization included in cost of sales 12,640 9,837 

Share-based compensation 10,662 9,914 

Financing charges, non-cash portion 8,760 7,799 

Transaction costs on acquisition 1,101 1,284 

Other (150) 6,860 

Change in fair value of derivative instruments 96,345 (506,047) 

257,415 (331,385) 

Adjustment required to reflect net cash receipts from gas sales 27 	7,740 (1,725) 

Changes in non-cash working capital 28 	(27,032) (39,063) 

149,007 154,206 

Income tax paid (4,617) (8,651) 

Cash inflow from operating activities 144,390 145,555 

INVESTING 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (74,829) (33,412) 

Purchase of intangible assets (5,867) (5,784) 

Acquisitions, net of cash acquired 9 	(93,325) (261,389) 

Proceeds (advances) of long-term receivables (1,881) 2,232 

Transaction costs on acquisition (1,101) (1,284) 

Contract initiation costs (28,244) (19,210) 

Cash outflow from investing activities (205247) (318847) 

FINANCING 

Dividends paid (146,822) (134,589) 

Shares purchased for cancellation (955) - 

Decrease in bank indebtedness (1,254) (5,922) 

Issuance of long-term debt 464,520 484,844 

Repayment of long-term debt (288,005) (150,449) 

Restricted cash (11,366) 17,817 

Cash inflow from financing activities 16,118 211,701 

Effect of foreign currency translation on cash balances 326 (908) 

Net cash inflow (outflow) (44,413) 37,501 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 97,633 60,132 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 	53,220 $ 	97,633 

Supplemental cash flow information: 

Interest paid $ 	52,810 $ 	39,167 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
For the year ended March 31, 2012 

(thousands of Canadian dollars, except where indicated and per share/unit amounts) 

NOTE 1 ORGANIZATION 
Just Energy Group Inc. ("JEGI", "Just Energy" or the "Company") is a corporation established under the laws of Canada to hold 

securities and to distribute the income of its directly or indirectly owned operating subsidiaries and affiliates. 

Effective January 1, 2011 Just Energy completed the conversion from an income trust, Just Energy Income Fund (the "Fund"), 

to a corporation (the "Conversion"). A plan of arrangement was approved by unitholders on June 29, 2010, and by the Alberta 

Court of the Queen’s Bench on June 30, 2010, and going forward operates under the name Just Energy Group Inc. JEGI was a 

newly incorporated entity for the purpose of acquiring the outstanding units of the Fund, Exchangeable Shares of Just Energy 

Exchange Corp. ("JEEC") and the Class A preference shares of Just Energy Corp. ("JEC"), in each case on a one for one basis for 

common shares of JEGI. There was no change in the ownership of the business, and therefore, there is no impact to the 

consolidated financial statements except for the elimination of unitholders’ equity, the recording of shareholders’ equity and the 

reallocation of the liability associated with the Exchangeable Shares and equity-based compensation to shareholders’ equity. 

The registered office of Just Energy is First Canadian Place, 100 King Street West, Toronto, Ontario, Canada. The consolidated 

financial statements consist of Just Energy and its subsidiaries and affiliates. The financial statements were approved by the Board 

of Directors on May 17, 2012. 

NOTE 2 OPERATIONS 
Just Energy’s business primarily involves the sale of natural gas and/or electricity to residential and commercial customers under 

long-term fixed-price, price-protected or variable-priced contracts. Just Energy markets its gas and electricity contracts in Canada 

and the U.S. under the following trade names: Just Energy, Hudson Energy, Commerce Energy, Amigo Energy and Tara Energy. 

By fixing the price of natural gas or electricity under its fixed-price or price-protected program contracts for a period of up to five 

years, Just Energy’s customers offset their exposure to changes in the price of these essential commodities. Variable rate products 

allow customers to maintain competitive rates while retaining the ability to lock into a fixed price at their discretion. Just Energy 

derives its margin or gross profit from the difference between the price at which it is able to sell the commodities to its customers 

and the related price at which it purchases the associated volumes from its suppliers. 

Just Energy also offers green products through its JustGreen and JustClean programs. The electricity JustGreen product offers 

customers the option of having all or a portion of their electricity sourced from renewable green sources such as wind, run of the 

river hydro or biomass. The gas JustGreen product offers carbon offset credits that allow customers to reduce or eliminate the 

carbon footprint of their homes or businesses. JustClean products allow customers in certain jurisdictions to offset their carbon 

footprint without purchasing commodity from Just Energy. JustClean can be offered in all states and provinces and is not 

dependent on energy deregulation. Management believes that the JustGreen and JustClean products will not only add to profits 

but will also increase sales receptivity and improve renewal rates. 

In addition, Just Energy sells and rents high efficiency and tankless water heaters, air conditioners and furnaces to Ontario 

residents, through a subsidiary under the trade name National Home Services ("NHS"). Just Energy also operates a network 

marketing division under the trade name Momentis. Through its subsidiary, Terra Grain Fuels, Inc. ("TGF"), Just Energy produces 

and sells wheat-based ethanol. Just Energy’s subsidiary, Hudson Energy Solar Corp ("HES"), also provides a solar project 

development platform operating in New Jersey, Pennsylvania and Massachusetts under the trade name Hudson Energy Solar. 

Just Energy also holds a 50% ownership in Just Ventures [[C and Just Ventures L.P. (collectively "Just Ventures"), a jointly 

controlled entity, which is involved in the marketing of Just Energy’s gas and electricity contracts. The other 50% is owned by 

Red Ventures LLC, a South Carolina-based entity which specializes in Internet-based marketing. 

NOTE 3 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ADOPTION OF INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 
In 2010, the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants ("CICA") Handbook was revised to incorporate International Financial 

Reporting Standards ("IFRS") and requires publicly accountable enterprises to apply such standards effective for years beginning 

on or after January 1, 2011. Accordingly, the Company has commenced reporting on this basis in these consolidated financial 

statements. In the consolidated financial statements, the term "CGAAP" refers to Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting 

Principles before the adoption of IFRS. 

M. 



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in compliance with IFIRS as issued by the International Accounting 

Standards Board ("IASB"). Subject to certain transition elections, the Company has consistently applied the same accounting 

policies in its opening IFRS consolidated balance sheet at April 1, 2010, and throughout all periods presented, as if these policies 

had always been in effect. Note 31 discloses the impact of the transition to IFRS on the Company’s reported financial position, 

financial performance and cash flows, including the nature and effect of significant changes in accounting policies from those used 

in the Company’s audited annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2011, prepared under CGAAP. 

(a) Basis of presentation 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, the functional currency of Just Energy, and all values are 

rounded to the nearest thousand. The consolidated financial statements are prepared on an historical cost basis except for the 

derivative financial instruments, which are stated at fair value. 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated financial 

statements and in preparing the opening IFIRS consolidated statement of financial position as at April 1, 2010, for the purposes of 

the transition. 

(b) Principles of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Just Energy and its directly or indirectly owned subsidiaries and 

affiliates as at March 31, 2012. Subsidiaries and affiliates are consolidated from the date of acquisition and control, and continue 

to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases. The financial statements of the subsidiaries and affiliates are prepared 

for the same reporting period as Just Energy, using consistent accounting policies. All intercompany balances, income, expenses, 

and unrealized gains and losses resulting from intercompany transactions are eliminated on consolidation. 

(c) Cash and cash equivalents 

All highly liquid temporary cash investments with an original maturity of three months or less when purchased are considered to 

be cash equivalents. For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and 

cash equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. 

(d) Accrued gas receivables/accrued gas payable or gas delivered in excess of consumption/deferred revenues 

Accrued gas receivables are stated at estimated realizable value and result when customers consume more gas than has been 

delivered by Just Energy to local distribution companies ("LDCs"). Accrued gas payable represents the obligation to the LDCs with 

respect to gas consumed by customers in excess of that delivered to the LDC5. 

Gas delivered to LDC5 in excess of consumption by customers is stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Collections 

from customers in advance of their consumption of gas result in deferred revenues. 

Due to the seasonality of operations, during the winter months, customers will have consumed more than what was delivered 

resulting in the recognition of unbilled revenues/accrued gas payable; however, in the summer months, customers will have 

consumed less than what was delivered, resulting in the recognition of gas delivered in excess of consumption/deferred revenues 

These adjustments are applicable solely to the Ontario, Manitoba, Quebec and Michigan gas markets. 

(e) Inventory 

Inventory consists of water heaters, furnaces and air conditioners for selling purposes, gas in storage, ethanol, ethanol in process 

and grain inventory. Water heaters, furnaces and air conditioners are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value with cost 

being determined on a weighted average basis. 

Gas in storage represents the gas delivered to the LDCs. The balance will fluctuate as gas is injected or withdrawn from storage. 

Gas in storage, ethanol, ethanol in process and grain inventory are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value with cost 

being determined on a weighted average basis. Net  realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of 

business, less the estimated costs of completion and selling expenses. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(f) Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, net of any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Cost includes the 

purchase price and, where relevant, any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary 

and/or the present value of all dismantling and removal costs. Where major components of property, plant and equipment have 

different useful lives, the components are recognized and depreciated separately. Just Energy recognizes, in the carrying amount, 

the cost of replacing part of an item when the cost is incurred and if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied 

with the item can be reliably measured. All other repair and maintenance costs are recognized in the consolidated income 

statement as an expense when incurred. Depreciation is provided over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows: 

Asset category Depreciation method Rate/useful life 

Furniture and fixtures Declining balance 20% 

Office equipment Declining balance 20% 

Computer equipment Declining balance 30% 

Buildings and ethanol plant Straight line 15-35 years 

Water heaters Straight line 15 years 

Furnaces and air conditioners Straight line 15 years 

Leasehold improvements Straight line Term of lease 

Vehicles Straight line 5 years 

Solar equipment Straight line 15-20 years 

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognized is derecognized upon disposal or when no 

future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset is included in 

the consolidated income statement when the asset is derecognized. 

The useful lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed at each financial year-end, and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate. 

Business combinations and goodwill 

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the fair value of 

the assets given, equity instruments and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange. Acquisition costs for business 

combinations incurred subsequent to April 1, 2010, are expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and 

contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at fair values on the date of acquisition, irrespective 

of the extent of any non-controlling interest. 

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, which is the excess of the cost of the business combination over Just Energy’s share in the 

net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities. Any negative difference is recognized directly 

in the consolidated income statement. If the fair values of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities can only be calculated on 

a provisional basis, the business combination is recognized using provisional values. Any adjustments resulting from the 

completion of the measurement process are recognized within 12 months of the date of acquisition. 

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost, less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment 

testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of Just Energy’s operating 

segments that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets and liabilities of 

the acquiree are assigned to those segments. 

On first-time adoption of IFRS, Just Energy elected to not apply IFRS 3, Business Combinations, to transactions that occurred prior 

to the transition date. Accordingly, the goodwill associated with acquisitions carried out prior to April 1, 2010, is carried at that 

date, at the amount reported in the last consolidated financial statements prepared under CGAAP as at March 31, 2010. 

(h) Intangible assets 

Intangible assets acquired outside of a business combination are measured at cost on initial recognition. Intangible assets acquired 

in a business combination are recorded at fair value on the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are 

carried at cost less any accumulated amortization and/or accumulated impairment losses. The useful lives of intangible assets are 

assessed as either finite or indefinite. 

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortized over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is 

an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortization method and amortization period of an intangible asset 

with a finite useful life is reviewed at least once annually. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption 

of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are accounted for by changing the amortization period or method, as appropriate, 

and are treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amortization expense related to intangible assets with finite lives is 

recognized in the consolidated income statement in the expense category associated with the function of the intangible assets. 



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Intangible assets consist of gas customer contracts, electricity customer contracts, water heater customer contracts, sales network, 

brand and goodwill, all acquired through business combinations, as well as software, commodity billing and settlement systems 

and information technology system development. 

Internally generated intangible assets are capitalized when the product or process is technically and commercially feasible and 

Just Energy has sufficient resources to complete development. The cost of an internally generated intangible asset comprises all 

directly attributable costs necessary to create, produce and prepare the asset to be capable of operating in the manner intended 

by management. 

The brand and goodwill are considered to have an indefinite useful life and are not amortized, but rather tested annually 

for impairment. The assessment of indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether the indefinite life continues to 

be supportable. 

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds 

and the carrying amount of the asset, and are recognized in the consolidated income statement when the asset is derecognized. 

Asset category 	 Amortization method 	 Rate 

Customer contracts 	 Straight line 	 Term of contract 

Contract initiation costs 	 Straight line 	 Term of contract 

Commodity billing and settlement systems 	 Straight line 	 5 years 

Sales network 	 Straight line 	 5 years 

Information technology system development 	 Straight line 	 5 years 

Software 	 Declining balance 	 100% 

Other intangible assets 	 Straight line 	 5 years 

(i) Impairment of non-financial assets 

Just Energy assesses whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired at each reporting date. If such an indication 

exists or when annual testing for an asset is required, Just Energy estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. The recoverable 

amount of goodwill and intangible assets with an indefinite useful life, if any, as well as intangible assets not yet available for use, 

are estimated at least annually. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs to 

sell and its value-in-use. Value-in-use is determined by discounting estimated future cash flows using a pre-tax discount rate that 

reflects the current market assessment of the time value of money and the specific risks of the asset. In determining fair value less 

costs to sell, an appropriate valuation model has to be used. The recoverable amount of assets that do not generate independent 

cash flows is determined based on the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

An impairment loss is recognized in the consolidated income statement if an asset’s carrying amount or that of the cash-

generating unit to which it is allocated is higher than its recoverable amount. Impairment losses of cash-generating units are 

first charged against the value of assets, in proportion to their carrying amount. 

In the consolidated income statement, an impairment loss is recognized in the expense category associated with the function of 

the impaired asset. 

For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously 

recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, Just Energy estimates the 

asset’s or cash-generating unit’s recoverable amount. A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a 

change in the assumptions used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognized. The 

reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying 

amount that would have been determined, net of amortization, had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior 

years. Such a reversal is recognized in the consolidated income statement. 

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually as at March 31 and when circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be 

impaired. Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of each segment to which the goodwill 

relates. Where the recoverable amount of the segment is less than its carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognized. 

Impairment losses relating to goodwill cannot be reversed in future periods. 
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(p Leases 

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement at the 

inception date and whether fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets, or the 

arrangement conveys a right to use the asset. 

Just Energy as a lessee 

Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense in the consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over the 

lease term. 

Just Energy as a lessor 

Leases where Just Energy does not transfer substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as 

operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased 

asset and recognized over the lease term on the same basis as rental income. 

(k) Financial instruments 

Financial assets and liabilities 

Just Energy classifies its financial instruments as either (i) financial assets at fair value through profit or loss instruments, or 

(ii) loans and receivables, and its financial liabilities as either (i) financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss or (ii) other 

financial liabilities. Appropriate classification of financial assets and liabilities is determined at the time of initial recognition or 

when reclassified in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

Financial instruments are recognized on the trade date, which is the date on which Just Energy commits to purchase or sell 

the asset. 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held-for-trading and financial assets designated upon 

initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets are classified as held-for-trading if they are acquired for the 

purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. This category includes derivative financial instruments entered into that are 

not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined by lAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and 

Measurement ("lAS 39"). Included in this class are primarily physical delivered energy contracts, for which the own-use exemption 

could not be applied, financially settled energy contracts and foreign currency forward contracts. 

An analysis of fair values of financial instruments and further details as to how they are measured are provided in Note 11. 

Related realized and unrealized gains and losses are included in the consolidated income statement. 

Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 

market. Assets in this category include receivables. Loans and receivables are initially recognized at fair value plus transaction 

costs. They are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method less any impairment. The effective 

interest amortization is included in finance costs in the consolidated income statement. 

Derecognition 
A financial asset is derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired or when Just Energy has 

transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset. 

Impairment of financial assets 

Just Energy assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset is impaired at each reporting date. A financial asset 

is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that have 

occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an Incurred loss event") and that loss event has an impact on the estimated 

future cash flows of the financial asset or the fund of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. 

For financial assets carried at amortized cost, Just Energy first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually 

for financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively, for financial assets that are not individually significant. If Just 

Energy determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, it includes the asset 

in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are 

individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognized are not included in a 

collective assessment of impairment. 

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between 

the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows. The present value of the estimated future cash 

flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. 
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The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognized in 

profit or loss. Interest income continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount and is accrued using the rate of interest 

used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. The interest income is recorded as part 

of other income in the consolidated income statement. 

Loans and receivables, together with the associated allowance, are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery. 

If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after 

the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance 

account. If a write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to other operating costs in the consolidated income statement. 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held-for-trading and financial liabilities designated 

upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. 

Financial liabilities are classified as held-for-trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term. This category 

includes derivative financial instruments entered into by Just Energy that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge 

relationships as defined by lAS 39. Included in this class are primarily physically delivered energy contracts, for which the own-use 

exemption could be not applied, financially settled energy contracts and foreign currency forward contracts. 

Gains or losses on liabilities held-for-trading are recognized in the consolidated income statement. 

Other financial liabilities 

Other financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. Financial liabilities include long-

term debt issued, which is initially measured at fair value, which is the consideration received, net of transaction costs incurred, 

trade and other payables and bank indebtedness. Transaction costs related to the long-term debt instruments are included in the 

value of the instruments and amortized using the effective interest rate method. The effective interest expense is included in 

finance costs in the consolidated income statement. 

Derecognition 

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires. When an existing 

financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability 

are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition 

of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in the consolidated income statement. 

(I) Derivative instruments 

Just Energy enters into fixed-term contracts with customers to provide electricity and gas at fixed prices. These customer contracts 

expose Just Energy to changes in consumption as well as changes in the market prices of gas and electricity. To reduce its 

exposure to movements in commodity prices, Just Energy enters into derivative contracts. 

Just Energy analyzes all its contracts; of both a financial and non-financial nature, to identify the existence of any "embedded" 

derivatives. Embedded derivatives are accounted for separately from the underlying contract at inception date when their risks 

and characteristics are not closely related to those of the underlying contracts and the underlying contracts are not carried at fair 

value. An embedded derivative is a provision in a contract that modifies the cash flow of a contract by making it dependent on an 

underlying measurement. 

All derivatives are recognized at fair value on the date on which the derivative is entered into and are re-measured to fair value at 

each reporting date. Derivatives are carried in the consolidated statements of financial position as other financial assets when the 

fair value is positive and as other financial liabilities when the fair value is negative. Just Energy does not utilize hedge accounting. 

Therefore, changes in the fair value of these derivatives are taken directly to the consolidated income statement and are included 

within change in fair value of derivative instruments. 

(m) Offsetting of financial instruments 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statements of financial position 

if, and only if, there is currently an enforceable legal right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a 

net basis, or to realize the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. 

(n) Fair value of financial instruments 	 ZD 

Fair value is the estimated amount that Just Energy would pay or receive to dispose of these contracts in an arm’s length 

transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties who are under no compulsion to act, The fair value of financial instruments 

that are traded in active markets at each reporting date is determined by reference to quoted market prices, without any 

deduction for transaction costs. 
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For financial instruments not traded in an active market, the fair value is determined using appropriate valuation techniques that 

are recognized by market participants. Such techniques may include using recent arm’s length market transactions, reference to 

the current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis, or other valuation models 

An analysis of fair values of financial instruments and further details as to how they are measured are provided in Note 11. 

(o) Revenue recognition 

Revenue is recognized when significant risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the customer. In the case of gas and 

electricity, transfer of risk and rewards generally coincides with consumption. Ethanol and dried distillery grain sales are recognized 

when the risk and reward of ownership passes, which is typically on delivery. Revenue from sales of water heaters, furnaces and 

air conditioners is recognized upon installation. Just Energy recognizes revenue from water heater and HVAC leases, based on 

rental rates over the term commencing from the installation date. 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received, excluding discounts, rebates and sales taxes. 

The Company assumes credit risk for all customers in Illinois, Texas, Pennsylvania, Maryland, Massachusetts, California and 

Georgia and for large-volume customers in British Columbia and Ontario. In these markets, the Company ensures that credit 

review processes are in place prior to commodity flowing to the customer. 

(p) Foreign currency translation 

Functional and presentation currency 

Items included in the consolidated financial statements of each of the Company’s entities are measured using the Currency of the 

primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the "functional currency"). The consolidated financial statements are 

presented in Canadian dollars, which is the parent company’s presentation and functional currency. 

Transactions 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the 

transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at 

period-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in the consolidated 

income statement, except when deferred in other comprehensive income (loss) as qualifying net investment hedges. 

Translation of foreign operations 

The results and consolidated financial position of all the group entities that have a functional currency different from the 

presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows: 

� assets and liabilities for each consolidated statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate at the 

date of that consolidated statement of financial position; and 

� income and expenses for each consolidated income statement are translated at the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of 

the transactions. 

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign operations, and of borrowings 

and other currency instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are taken to other comprehensive income (loss). 

When a foreign operation is partially disposed of or sold, exchange differences that were recorded in accumulated other 

comprehensive income (loss) are recognized in the consolidated income statement as part of the gain or loss on sale. 

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign 

entity and translated at the closing rate. 

(q) Per share/unit amounts 

The computation of income per unit/share is based on the weighted average number of units/shares outstanding during the year. 

Diluted earnings per unit/share are computed in a similar way to basic earnings per unit/share except that the weighted average 

units/shares outstanding are increased to include additional units/shares assuming the exercise of stock options, restricted share 

grants (" RSG5"), deferred share grants ("DSGs") and convertible debentures, if dilutive. 
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In Share-based compensation plans 

Equity-based compensation liability 

Prior to the Conversion to a corporation on January 1, 2011, Just Energy’s equity-based compensation plans entitled the holders 

to receive trust units, which were considered puttable financial instruments under IFRS, and thus the awards were classified as 

liability-based awards. The liability was measured at the redemption value of the instruments and re-measured at each reporting 

date with the gain or loss associated with the re-measurement recorded within profit. When the awards were converted into trust 

units, the conversions were recorded as an extinguishment of the liability and accordingly, the re-measured amount at the date of 

conversion was then reclassified to equity. 

Subsequent to the Conversion, Just Energy accounted for its share-based compensation as equity-settled transactions as a result 

of the stock-based plans that were no longer convertible into a puttable financial liability. The cost of a share-based compensation 

is measured by reference to the fair value at the date on which it was granted. Awards are valued at the grant date and are not 

adjusted for changes in the prices of the underlying shares and other measurement assumptions. The cost of equity-settled 

transactions is recognized, together with the corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the performance or service 

conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant grantee becomes fully entitled to the award. The cumulative 

expense recognized for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until the vesting period reflects the extent to which 

the vesting period has expired and Just Energy’s best estimate of the number of the shares that will ultimately vest. The expense 

or credit recognized for a period represents the movement in cumulative expense recognized as at the beginning and end of 

that period. 

When options, RSGs and DSG5 are exercised or exchanged, the amounts credited to contributed surplus are reversed and credited 

to shareholders’ capital. 

(s) Employee future benefits 

Just Energy established a long-term incentive plan (the "Plan") for all permanent full-time and part-time Canadian employees 

(working more than 20 hours per week) of its subsidiaries. The Plan consists of two components, a Deferred Profit Sharing Plan 

(" DPSP") and an Employee Profit Sharing Plan (" EPSP"). For participants of the DPSP, Just Energy contributes an amount equal to 

a maximum of 2% per annum of an employee’s base earnings. For the EPSP, Just Energy contributes an amount up to a maximum 

of 2% per annum of an employee’s base earnings towards the purchase of shares of Just Energy, on a matching one for one basis. 

For U.S. employees, Just Energy has established a long-term incentive plan (the "Plan") for all permanent full-time and part-time 

employees (working more than 26 hours per week) of its subsidiaries. The Plan consists of two components, a 401(k) and an 

Employee Share Purchase Plan (" ESPP"). For participants of the ESPP, Just Energy contributes an amount up to a maximum of 3% 

per annum of an employee’s base earnings towards the purchase of Just Energy shares, on a matching one for one basis. For 

participants in the 401(k), Just Energy contributes an amount up to a maximum of 4% per annum of an employee’s base 

earnings, on a matching one for one basis. In the event an employee participates in both the ESPP and 401(k), the maximum Just 

Energy will contribute to the 401(k) is 2%. 

Participation in the plans in Canada or the U.S is voluntary. The plans have a two-year vesting period beginning from the later of 

the plan’s effective date and an employee’s starting date. During the year, Just Energy contributed $2,034 (2011 - $1,572) to the 

plans, which was paid in full during the year. 

Obligations for contributions to the Plan are recognized as an expense in the consolidated income statement as incurred. 

(t) Trust units of the Fund 

Prior to the Conversion which occurred on January 1, 2011, the Fund’s outstanding equity instruments consisted of publicly traded 

trust units of the Fund, Class A preference shares of JEC and Exchangeable Shares of JEEC. Pursuant to applicable legislation, 

those trust units included a redemption feature which required Just Energy to assess the appropriate presentation of those units 

under IFRS. 

Generally, FIRS requires that financial instruments, which include a redemption feature, making the instruments puttable, should 

be presented as a financial liability rather than an equity item. However, an exception to this requirement is available if the 

financial instrument meets certain criteria. Just Energy determined that its trust units met the requirements for this exception and 

accordingly, the trust units are presented as equity for the periods prior to the Conversion. 
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Liabilities associated with the Class A preference shares of fEC and the Exchangeable Shares of JEEC (collectively 

the "Exchangeable Shares") 

Prior to the Conversion, the outstanding Exchangeable Shares did not meet the criteria to be recorded as equity because the 

Exchangeable Shares were ultimately required to be exchanged for trust units, which were considered puttable financial instruments. 

Accordingly, the Exchangeable Shares were recorded as a liability until exchanged for trust units. The liability was measured at the 

redemption value of the instruments and re-measured at each reporting date with the gain or loss associated with the re-measurement 

recorded within profit. When the Exchangeable Shares were converted into trust units, the conversions were recorded as an 

extinguishment of the liability, and accordingly, the re-measured amount at the date of conversion was then reclassified to equity. 

Transaction costs 

Transaction costs incurred by Just Energy in issuing, acquiring or selling its own equity instruments are accounted for as a 

deduction from equity to the extent that they are incremental costs directly attributable to the equity transaction that otherwise 

would have been avoided. 

(u) Income taxes 

Just Energy follows the liability method of accounting for deferred taxes. Under this method, income tax liabilities and assets are 

recognized for the estimated tax consequences attributable to the temporary differences between the carrying value of the assets 

and liabilities on the consolidated financial statements and their respective tax bases. 

Deferred tax assets/liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, except: 

� Where the deferred tax asset/liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a transaction 

that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit 

or loss; and 

� In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, where the timing of the reversal of the 

temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is 

probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused 

tax credits and unused tax losses, can be utilized, except: 

� Where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of an asset or 

liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting 

profit nor taxable profit or loss; and 

� In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are recognized 

only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will 

be available against which the temporary differences can be utilized 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer 

probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized. Unrecognized 

deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future 

taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset is realized or 

the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

Deferred tax relating to items recognized outside profit or loss is recognized outside profit or loss. Deferred tax items are 

recognized in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against 

current income tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority. 

(v) Provisions 

Provisions are recognized when Just Energy has a present obligation, legal or constructive, as a result of a past event and it is 

probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable 

estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Where Just Energy expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, the 

reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to any 

provision is presented in the consolidated income statement, net of any reimbursement. If the effect of the time value of money is 

material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. 
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Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as a finance cost in the 

consolidated income statement. 

(w) Selling and marketing expenses and contract initiation costs 

Commissions and various other costs related to obtaining and renewing customer contracts are charged to income in the period 

incurred except as disclosed below: 

Commissions related to obtaining and renewing commercial customer contracts are paid in one of the following ways: all or 

partially upfront or as a residual payment over the life of the contract. If the commission is paid all or partially upfront, it is 

recorded as contract initiation costs and amortized in selling and marketing expenses over the term for which the associated 

revenue is earned. If the commission is paid as a residual payment, the amount is expensed as earned. 

In addition, commissions related to obtaining customer contracts signed by NHS are recorded as contract initiation costs and 

amortized in selling and marketing expenses over the remaining life of the contract. 

(x) Investment in joint venture 

Just Energy accounts for its interest in joint ventures using the equity method. Under this method any investments made increases 

the asset value, the proportionate share of income/losses, increases/decreases the asset value, with an offsetting adjustment in the 

consolidated statements of operations, and any dividends received decreases the asset value. 

NOTE 4(i) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS 
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires the use of estimates and assumptions to be made in applying 

the accounting policies that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income, expenses and the disclosure of contingent 

liabilities. The estimates and related assumptions are based on previous experience and other factors considered reasonable under 

the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making the assumptions about carrying values of assets and liabilities 

that are not readily apparent from other sources. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in 

the period in which the estimate is revised. Judgments made by management in the application of IFRS that have a significant 

impact on the consolidated financial statements relate to the following: 

Impairment of non-financial assets 

Just Energy’s impairment test is based on value-in-use calculations that use a discounted cash flow model. The cash flows are 

derived from the budget for the next five years and are sensitive to the discount rate used as well as the expected future cash 

inflows and the growth rate used for extrapolation purposes. 

Deferred taxes 

Significant management judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognized, based upon 

the likely timing and the level of future taxable income realized, including the usage of tax-planning strategies. 

Development costs 

Development costs are capitalized in accordance with the accounting policy in Note 3(h). Initial capitalization of costs is based on 

management’s judgment that technical and economical feasibility is confirmed, usually when a project has reached a defined 

milestone according to an established project management model. As at March 31, 2012, the carrying amount of capitalized 

development costs was $13,343 (2011 - $16,275). This amount primarily includes costs for the internal development of software 

tools for the customer billing and analysis in the various operating jurisdictions. These software tools are developed by the internal 

information technology and operations department, for the specific regional market requirements. 

Useful life of key property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 

The amortization method and useful lives reflect the pattern in which management expects the asset’s future economic benefits 

to be consumed by Just Energy. Refer to Note 3(f) and Note 3(h) for the estimated useful lives. 

Provisions for litigation 

The State of California has filed a number of complaints to the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission ("FERC") against many 

suppliers of electricity, including Commerce, a subsidiary of Just Energy, with respect to events stemming from the 2001 energy 

crisis in California. Pursuant to the complaints, the State of California is challenging the FERC’s enforcement of its market-based 

rate system. At this time, the likelihood of damages or recoveries and the ultimate amounts, if any, with respect to this litigation 

are not certain; however, an estimated amount has been recorded in these consolidated financial statements as at March 31, 

2012. In the general course of operations, Just Energy has made additional provisions for litigation matters that have arisen. Refer 

to Note 17 for further details. 
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Trade receivables 

Just Energy reviews its individually significant receivables at each reporting date to assess whether an impairment loss should be 

recorded in the consolidated income statement. In particular, judgment by management is required in the estimation of the 

amount and timing of future cash flows when determining the impairment loss. In estimating these cash flows, Just Energy makes 

judgments about the borrower’s financial situation and the net realizable value of collateral. These estimates are based on 

assumptions about a number of factors and actual results may differ, resulting in future changes to the allowance. 

Fair value of financial instruments 

Where the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the consolidated statements of financial position cannot 

be derived from active markets, they are determined using valuation techniques including discounted cash flow models. The 

inputs to these models are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgment is 

required in establishing fair values. The judgment includes consideration of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility. 

Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments. Refer to Note 11 for 

further details about the assumptions as well as sensitivity analysis. 

Acquisition accounting 

For acquisition accounting purposes, all identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired in a business combination 

are recognized at fair value on the date of acquisition. Estimates are used to calculate the fair value of these assets and liabilities 

as at the date of acquisition. 

(ii) ACCOUNTING STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET APPLIED 
IFRS 9, Financial Instruments 

As of April 1, 2015, Just Energy will be required to adopt IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, which is the result of the first phase of the 

IASB’s project to replace lAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The new standard replaces the current 

multiple classification and measurement models for financial assets and liabilities with a single model that has only two 

classification categories: amortized cost and fair value. The Company has not yet assessed the impact of the standard or 

determined whether it will adopt the standard early. 

IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements 

As of April 1, 2013, IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements will replace portions of lAS 27, Consolidated and Separate 

Financial Statements and interpretation SIC-1 2, Consolidation - Special Purpose Entities. The new standard requires consolidated 

financial statements to include all controlled entities under a single control model. The Company will be considered to control an 

investee when it is exposed, or has rights to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the current ability to 

affect those returns through its power over the investee. 

As required by this standard, control is reassessed as facts and circumstances change. All facts and circumstances must be 

considered to make a judgment about whether the Company controls another entity; there are no clear lines. Additional guidance 

is given on how to evaluate whether certain relationships give the Company the current ability to affect its returns, including how 

to consider options and convertible instruments, holding less than a majority of voting rights, how to consider protective rights, 

and principal-agency relationships (including removal rights), all of which may differ from current practice. The Company has not 

yet assessed the impact of the standard or determined whether it will adopt the standard early. 

IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements 

On April 1, 2013, Just Energy will be required to adopt IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements, which applies to accounting for interests in 

joint arrangements where there is joint control. The standard requires the joint arrangements to be classified as either joint 

operations or joint ventures. The structure of the joint arrangement would no longer be the most significant factor when 

classifying the joint arrangement as either a joint operation or a joint venture. In addition, the option to account for joint ventures 

(previously called jointly controlled entities) using proportionate consolidation will be removed and replaced by equity accounting. 

The adoption of this new section will have no impact on the Company as joint ventures are currently accounted for using the 

equity method. 
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IFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 

On April 1 2013, Just Energy will be required to adopt IFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities, which includes disclosure 

requirements about subsidiaries, joint ventures, and associates, as well as unconsolidated structured entities, and replaces existing 

disclosure requirements. Due to this new section, the Company will be required to disclose the following: judgments and 

assumptions made when deciding how to classify involvement with another entity, interests that non-controlling interests have in 

consolidated entities, and nature of the risks associated with interests in other entities. The Company has not yet assessed the 

impact of the standard or determined whether it will adopt the standard early. 

IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement 

On April 1, 2013, Just Energy will be required to adopt IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement. The new standard will establish a single 

source of guidance for fair value measurements, when fair value is required or permitted by IFRS. Upon adoption, the Company 

will provide a single framework for measuring fair value while requiring enhanced disclosures when fair value is applied. In 

addition, fair value will be defined as the ’exit price’ and concepts of ’highest and best use’ and ’valuation premise’ would be 

relevant only for non-financial assets and liabilities. The Company has not yet assessed the impact of the standard or determined 

whether it will adopt the standard early. 

lAS 27, Separate Financial Statements 

On April 1, 2013, Just Energy will be required to adopt [AS 27, Separate Financial Statements. As a result of the issue of the new 

consolidation suite of standards, lAS 27 has been reissued to reflect the change as the consolidation guidance has recently been 

included in IFRS 10. 

In addition, lAS 27 will now only prescribe the accounting and disclosure requirements for investments in subsidiaries, joint 

ventures and associates when the Company prepares separate financial statements. The Company has not yet assessed the impact 

of the standard or determined whether it will adopt the standard early. 

[AS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 

On April 1, 2013, Just Energy will be required to adopt lAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures. As a consequence of 

the issue of IFRS 10, IFRS 11, IFRS 12 and lAS 28 have been amended and will further provide the accounting guidance for 

investments in associates and will set out the requirements for the application of the equity method when accounting for 

investments in associates and joint ventures. 

This standard will be applied by the Company when there is joint control or significant influence over an investee. Significant 

influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but does not include control or 

joint control of those policy decisions. When determined that the Company has an interest in a joint venture, the Company will 

recognize an investment and will account for it using the equity method in accordance with lAS 28. The Company has not yet 

assessed the impact of the standard or determined whether it will adopt the standard early. 

AS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements 

lAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, was amended in 2011 to expand on the disclosures required of items within other 

comprehensive income. The revised standard requires that an entity distinguishes between those items that are recycled to profit 

and loss versus those items that are not recycled. Retrospective application is required and the standard is effective for annual 

periods beginning on or after July 1, 2012. The Company does not expect the amendments to lAS 1 to have a significant impact 

on its consolidated financial statements. 

77 



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 5 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
Buildings Furnaces 

and Furniture and air 	Leasehold 

Computer ethanol and Office Water con- 	improve- Solar 

As at March 31, 2012 equipment plant Land fixtures 	Vehicles equipment heaters 	ditioners ments equipment Total 

Cost: 

Operating balance - 
April 1, 2011 $ 	7,750 $ 158,482 $ 299 $ 6,090 $ 215 $ 17,976 $ 78,223 $ 3,813 $ 8,567 $ 	283 $281,698 

Additions/(Disposals) 1,347 - -. 441 (32) 1,668 28,048 7,671 62 	35,624 74,829 

Acquisition of 

subsidiary 348 - - 8 31 371 - - - 	- 758 

Exchange differences 8 18 - 33 (2) 13 - - 13 	(118) (35) 

March 31, 2012 9,453 158,500 299 6,572 212 20,028 106,271 11,484 8,642 	35,789 357,250 

Accumulated 

Amortization: 

Opening balance - 
April 1, 2011 (4,958) (17,426) - (3,561) (88) (9,520) (6,887) (179) (5,077) 	- (47,696) 

Amortization charge 

to cost of sales (5,871) - - - -� (5,961) (808) - (12,640) 

Amortization charge 

for the year (1,205) (1,201) - (569) (41) (1,905) - - (913) 	(13) (5,847) 

Disposals 12 - - - 21 (1) - - - 32 

Exchange differences (9) - - (11) - (9) - - (9) 	- (38) 

Ending balance, 

March 31. 2012 (6,160) (24498) - (4,141) (108) (11,435) (12,848) (987) (5,999) 	(13) (66,189) 

Net book value, 

March 31, 2012 $ 	3,293 $ 134,002$ 299 $ 2,431 $ 104 $ 8,593 $ 	93,423 $ 10,497 $ 2,643 $ 35,776 $291,061 

Buildings Furnaces 

and Furniture and air 	Leasehold 

Computer ethanol and Office Water con- improve- 	Solar 

As at March 31, 2011 equipment plant Land fixtures Vehicles 	equipment heaters ditioners ments 	equipment Total 

Cost: 

Operating balance - 
April 1, 2010 $ 	6,417 $159,897 $ 299 $ 5,581 	$ 197 $ 16,724 $ 	51,059 $ 317 $ 8,409 $ 	- $248,900 

Additions/(Disposals) 1,137 (2,055) - 468 18 684 27,164 3,496 148 	297 31,357 

Acquisition 

of subsidiary 233 670 - 94 - 621 - - 30 	- 1,648 

Exchange differences (37) (30) - (53) - (53) - - (20) 	(14) (207) 

Ending balance, 

March 31, 2011 7,750 158,482 299 6,090 215 17,976 78,223 3,813 8,567 	283281,698 

Accumulated 

Amortization: 

Operating balance - 
April 1, 2010 (3,887) (11,104) - (2,972) (46) (7614) (2,481) (4) (4,116) 	- (32,224) 

Amortization charge 

to cost of sales - (5,256) - - - - (4406) (175) - 	- (9,837) 

Amortization charge 

for the year (1,086) (1,066) - (606) (42) (1,923) - - (975) 	- (5,698) 

Exchange differences 15 1 - 17 - 16 - - 14 	- 63 

Ending balance, 

March 31, 2011 (4,958) (17,425) - (3,561) (88) (9,521) (6,887) (179) (5,077) 	- (47,696) 

Net book value, 

March 31, 2011 $ 	2,792 $141,057 $ 299 $ 2,529 5 127 $ 8,455 $ 	71,336 5 3,634 $ 3,490 $ 	283 $ 234,002 

Net book value, 
I- 

April 1,2010 $ 	2,530 $ 148,7935 299 $ 2,609 $ 151 	$ 9,110 $ 	48,578 $ 313 $ 4,293 $ 	- $216,676 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 6 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
Commodity 

Water billing and 	IT system 

Electricity heater Sales settlement develop- 

A5 at March 31, 2012 Gas contracts 	contracts 	contracts 	Goodwill network Brand 	Software systems ment Other Total 

Cost: 

Operating balance - 

April 1, 2011 $ 248,828 $ 436,339 $ 23,164 $ 227,467 $ 80,561 	$ 10,692 S 9,540 $ 6,515 $ 19,691 	$ 9,006 $1,071,803 

Acquisition of a subsidiary - 39,533 - 	21,106 42,359 13,034 215 - - - 116,247 

Write-down of fully 

amortized assets (1,842) �.� �.. (1,842) 

Additions - 879 4,084 15 773 116 5,867 

Exchange differences 3,759 3,981 -- 	592 158 (357) 83 51 493 2.48 9,008 

Ending balance, 

March 31, 2012 250,745 479,853 24,043 	249,165 123,078 23,369 13,922 6,581 20,957 9,370 1,201,083 

Accumulated 

Amortization: 

Opening balance - 

April 1, 2011 (144,568) 	(248,673) (2,813) (14770) - (6,616) (6,453) (3,478) (4,213) (431,584) 

Write-down of fully 

amortized assets 1,842 -. ... 	 - - - - �- - - 1,842 

Amortization charge 

for the year (23,902) (54,468) (1,631) 	- (19,006) - (2,890) (18) (4,089) (2,229) (108,233) 

Amortization in mark 

to market (38,663) (74,330) - 	- - - - - - - (112,993) 

Exchange differences (2,856) (2,668) (508) (22) (51) (106) (129) (6,340) 

Ending balance, 

March 31, 2012 (208,147) (380139) (4,444) (34,284) (9,528) (6,522) (7,673) (6,571) (657,308) 

Net book value, 

March 31. 2012 $ 	42,598 $ 99,714 $ 19,599 $ 249,165 $ 88,794 $ 23,369 $ 4,394 $ 59 $ 13,284 5 2,799 $ 543,775 

Commodity 

Water billing and IT system 

Electricity heater Sales settlement develop- 

As at March 31, 2011 Gas contracts contracts contracts 	Goodwill network Brand Software systems ment Other Total 

Cost: 

Operating balance - 

April 1, 2010 $472,756 $ 266,700 $ 23,081 	$ 186,832 $ - $ - $ 5,562 5 6,545 $ 605 $ 2,377 $ 964,458 

Acquisition of a 

subsidiary 26,225 200,653 - 	32,317 84,400 11,200 911 - 17,954 6,545 380,205 

Write-down of fully 

amortized assets (243,929) (21,083) - 	- - - - - - - (265,012) 

Adjustments to 

goodwill - - - 	9,877 - - - - - - 9,877 

Additions - 83 	- - - 3,208 54 1,949 490 5,784 

Exchange differences (6,224) (9,931) - 	(1,559) (3,839) (508) (141) (84) (817) (406) (23,509) 

Ending balance, 

March 31, 2011 248,828 436,339 23,164 	227,467 80,561 10,692 9,540 6,515 19,691 9,006 1,071,803 

Accumulated 

Amortization: 

Opening balance - 

April 1, 2010 (307,413) (113,862) (1,218) 	- - - (4,198) (6,515) (21) (2,377) (435,604) 

Write-down of fully 

amortized assets 243,929 21,083 - 	- - - - - - - 265,012 

Amortization charge 

for the year (31,841) (63,642) (1,595) 	- (15,511) - (2,576) (22) (3,614) (2,040) (120,841) 

Amortization in mark 

to market (53,757) (96,064) - 	- - - - - - - (149,821) 

Exchange differences 4,514 3,812 - 	- 741 - 158 84 157 204 9,670 

Ending balance, 

March 31, 2011 (144,568) (248,673) (2,813) 	- (14,770) - (6,616) (6,453) (3,478) (4,213) (431,584) 

Net book value, 

March 31, 2011 $ 104,260 $ 187,666 $ 20,351 	$227,467 $ 65,791 	$ 10,692 $ 2,924 $ 62 $ 16,213 	$ 4,793 $ 640,219 

Net book value, 

April 1, 2010 $ 165,343 $ 152,838 $ 21,863 $ 186,832 $ - $ - $ 1,364 $ 30 $ 584 $ - $ 528,854 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The capitalized internally developed costs relate to the development of new customer billing and analysis software solutions for 

the different energy markets of Just Energy. All research costs and development costs not eligible for capitalization have been 

expensed and are recognized in administrative expenses. 

NOTE 7 RESTRICTED CASH 
Restricted cash consists of the following: 

i) As part of the acquisition of Newten Home Comfort Inc. in 2009, the Company was required to transfer cash into a trust 

account, in trust for the vendors, as part of the contingent consideration. The contingent consideration payments, which will 

become payable in July 2012, are based on the number of completed water heater installations. As of March 31, 2012, the 

amount of restricted cash is $1,250. 

ii) As part of the acquisition of Fulcrum Retail Holdings LLC ("Fulcrum"), Note 9(a), Just Energy was required to transfer $10,949 

into a restricted cash account until such transfer time that the amount of the contingent consideration is known. 

NOTE 8 INVENTORY 
The amount of inventory recognized as an expense during the year ended March 31, 2012, was $94,349 (2011�$77,376). There 

have been no write-downs of inventory. Inventory is made up of the following: 

Raw materials 

Work in progress 

Finished goods 

	

March 31, 	March 31, 	April 1, 

	

2012 	 2011 	 2010 

$ 	1,220 	$ 	2,224 	$ 	2,308 

	

775 	 518 	463 

	

7,993 	4,164 	3,552 

$ 	9,988 	$ 	6,906 	$ 	6,323 

NOTE 9 ACQUISITIONS 

(a) Acquisition of Fulcrum Retail Holdings LLC 

On October 3, 2011, Just Energy completed the acquisition of the equity interest of Fulcrum with an effective date of October 1, 

2011. The acquisition was funded by an issuance of $100 million in convertible debentures (Note 15(f)). 

The consideration for the acquisition was US$79.4 million paid at the time of closing, subject to customary working capital 

adjustments. Just Energy paid US$7.3 million in connection with the preliminary working capital adjustment still subject to 

finalization. Just Energy will also pay up to US$11.0 million in cash and issue up to 867,025 common shares (collectively, the 

"Earn-Out" amount) to the sellers 18 months following the closing date, provided that certain EBITDA and billed volume targets 

are satisfied by Fulcrum. On the Earn-Out amount, Just Energy will pay 4.006% interest on the cash portion and $1.86 per share 

issued at the end of the Earn-Out period. The $11.0 million is being held in a restricted cash account until the amount is finalized. 

The fair value of the contingent consideration at acquisition was estimated to be $18,327. Changes in the fair value of the 

contingent consideration will be recorded in the consolidated income statement as a change in fair value of derivative 

instruments. The contingent consideration was valued at $21,407 as at March 31, 2012, and is included in other non-current 

financial liabilities. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The acquisition of Fulcrum was accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting. Just Energy allocated the purchase 

price to the identified assets and liabilities acquired based on their fair values at the time of acquisition as follows: 

Fair value recognized on acquisition 

Current assets (including cash of $3,875) $ 	43,528 

Property, plant and equipment 758 

Software 215 

Customer contracts and relationships 39,533 

Affinity relationships 42,359 

Brand 13,034 

Contract initiation costs 156 

Non-controlling interest 540 

140,123 

Current liabilities (44,856) 

Other liabilities - current (12,430) 

Other liabilities - long term (3,768) 

Deferred lease inducements (322) 

Long-term debt (586) 

(61,962) 

Total identifiable net assets acquired 78,161 

Goodwill arising on acquisition 2..106 

Total consideration $ 	99,267 

Cash paid, net of estimated working capital adjustment 	 $ 	80,940 

Contingent consideration 	 18,327 

Total consideration 	 $ 	99,267 

The transaction costs related to the acquisition of Fulcrum have been expensed and are included in other operating expenses in 

the consolidated income statement. The transaction costs related to the issuance of the convertible debentures have been 

capitalized and were allocated to the equity and liability component of the convertible debt in relation to the fair value of both the 

components. Goodwill of $21,106 comprises the value of expected ongoing synergies from the acquisition. None of the goodwill 

recognized is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes. Goodwill associated with the Fulcrum acquisition is part of the 

electricity marketing segment. The purchase price allocation is considered preliminary, and as a result, it may be adjusted during 

the 12 month period following the acquisition in accordance with IFRS 3 Since the last quarter, the Company decreased the 

working capital by approximately $4,000, decreased the working capital adjustment by $1,500, increased other liabilities - current 

by approximately $1,700 and increased customer contracts and relationships by approximately $3,700, resulting in a net increase 

to goodwill of approximately $500. 

The fair value of the trade receivables amounted to $20,600 at the date of acquisition. The gross amount of trade receivables 

was $27,540. 

The customer contracts and relationships and affinity relationships are amortized over the average remaining life at the time of 

acquisition. The electricity contracts and customer relationships are amortized over 42 months (3,5 years). The affinity relationships 

are amortized over eight years. The brand value is considered to be indefinite and, therefore, is not subject to amortization. Brand 

represents the value allocated to the market awareness of the operating names used to sell and promote the Company’s products. 

From the date of acquisition, Fulcrum has contributed $107,305 of revenue and a loss of $9,083 to the consolidated net loss 

before tax of Just Energy for the period ended March 31, 2012. If the combination had taken place at the beginning of the fiscal 

year, total consolidated revenue would have been $2,926,157, and the consolidated net loss before tax would have been $96,327 

for the year ended March 31, 2012. 

(b) Acquisition of Hudson Energy Services, LLC 

On May 7, 2010, Just Energy completed the acquisition of all of the equity interests of Hudson Parent Holdings, [[C, and all 

the common shares of Hudson Energy Corp., thereby indirectly acquiring Hudson Energy Services, LLC ("Hudson"), with an 

effective date of May 1, 2010. The acquisition was funded by an issuance of $330 million in convertible debentures issued on 

May 5, 2010 (Note 15(e)). There is no contingent consideration involved in the business acquisition. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The acquisition of Hudson was accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting. Just Energy allocated the purchase 

price to the identified assets and liabilities acquired based on their fair values at the time of acquisition as follows: 

Fair value recognized on acquisition 

Current assets (including cash of $24,003) 

Property, plant and equipment 

Software 

Electricity contracts and customer relationships 

Gas contracts and customer relationships 

Broker network 

Brand 

Information technology system development 

Contract initiation costs 

Other intangible assets 

Unbilled revenue 

Notes receivable - long term 

Security deposits - long term 

Other assets - current 

Other assets - long term 

Current liabilities 

Other liabilities - current 

Other liabilities - long term 

Total identifiable net assets acquired 

Goodwill arising on acquisition 

Total consideration 

Cash outflow on acquisition: 

Cash paid 

Net cash acquired with the subsidiary 

Holdback 

Net cash outflow 

$ 	88,696 

1,648 

911 

200,653 

26,225 

84,400 

11,200 

17,954 

20,288 

6,545 

15,092 

1,312 

3,544 

124 

100 

478,692 

(107,817) 

(74,683) 

(40,719) 

(223,219) 

255,473 

32,317 

$ 287,790 

$ 287,790 

(24,003) 

(9,345) 

$ 254,442 

The transaction costs related to the acquisition of Hudson have been expensed and are included in other operating expenses in 

the consolidated income statement. The transaction costs related to the issuance of the convertible debentures have been 

capitalized and were allocated to the equity and liability component of the convertible debt in relation to the fair value of both the 

components. Goodwill of $32,317 comprises the value of expected synergies from the acquisition. None of the goodwill 

recognized is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes. Goodwill associated with the Hudson acquisition is part of the 

U.S. gas and electricity marketing segments. As at March 31, 2012, all holdbacks have been paid in full. 

The fair value of the trade receivables amounted to $62,022 at the date of acquisition. The gross amount of trade receivables is 

$67,526. None of the trade receivables have been impaired and it is expected that the full contractual amount can be collected. 

All contracts and intangible assets, excluding brand, are amortized over the average remaining life at the time of acquisition. 

The gas and electricity contracts and customer relationships are amortized over periods of 30 months and 35 months, respectively. 

Other intangible assets, excluding brand, are amortized over periods ranging from three to five years. The brand value is 

considered to be indefinite and, therefore, not subject to amortization. Brand represents the value allocated to the market 

awareness of the operating names used to sell and promote the Company’s products. 

From the date of acquisition, Hudson has contributed $654,802 of revenue and $5,914 to the net profit before tax of Just Energy 

for the period ended March 31, 2011. If the combination had taken place at the beginning of the prior fiscal year, consolidated 

revenue would have been $2,992,331 and the consolidated income would have been $548,799 for the year ended March 31, 2011. 



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 10 JOINT VENTURE 
Effective July 1 2011, Just Energy has a 50% interest in Just Ventures LLC and Just Ventures L.P. (collectively "Just Ventures"), 

jointly controlled entities that are involved in the marketing of Just Energy products. The marketing efforts of Just Ventures are 

primarily internet- and telemarketing-based, which differs from Just Energy’s traditional sales channels. 

Just Ventures is currently funded by its investors and all advances are recorded as additional capital contributions. 

2012 

Share of the associate’s revenue and profit: 

Revenue eliminated on consolidation 
	

$ 	335 

Loss 
	

$ 	(1,971) 

Carrying amount of the investment 

At any time subsequent to the second anniversary of the joint venture agreements, the other participant in the joint venture has 

the ability to sell part or all of its interest in Just Ventures (the "Put"). The amount is determined based on the fair value of the 

previous month’s billed customers. As at March 31, 2012, the Put was estimated to have a nominal value and is therefore not 

reflected in these consolidated financial statements. 

NOTE 11 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

(a) Fair value 
Fair value is the estimated amount that Just Energy would pay or receive to dispose of these supply contracts in an arm’s length 

transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties who are under no compulsion to act. Management has estimated the value 

of electricity, unforced capacity, heat rates, heat rate options, renewable and gas swap and forward contracts using a discounted 

cash flow method, which employs market forward curves that are either directly sourced from third parties or are developed 

internally based on third party market data. These curves can be volatile thus leading to volatility in the mark to market with 

no impact to cash flows. Gas options have been valued using the Black option value model using the applicable market forward 

curves and the implied volatility from other market traded gas options. 

Effective July 1, 2008, Just Energy ceased the utilization of hedge accounting. Accordingly, all the mark to market changes 

on Just Energy’s derivative instruments are recorded on a single line on the consolidated income statement. Due to the commodity 

volatility and size of Just Energy, the quarterly swings in mark to market on these positions will increase the volatility in 

Just Energy’s earnings. 



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The following tables illustrate gains/(losses) related to Just Energy’s derivative financial instruments classified as held-for-trading 

and recorded on the consolidated statements of financial position as other assets and other liabilities with their offsetting values 

recorded in change in fair value of derivative instruments for the year ended March 31, 2012: 

For the For the For the For the 
year ended year ended year ended year ended 

March 31, March 31, March 31, March 31, 
Change in fair value of derivative instruments 2012 2012 (UsD) 2011 2011 (USD) 

Canada 

Fixed-for-floating electricity swaps (i) S 	44,269 n/a 5 	232,806 n/a 

Renewable energy certificates (ii) (60) n/a (987) n/a 

Verified emission-reduction credits (iii) 95 n/a (952) n/a 

Options (iv) (1,330) n/a 333 n/a 

Physical gas forward contracts (v) 52,114 n/a 138,623 n/a 

Transportation forward contracts (vi) (39) n/a 11,365 n/a 

Fixed financial swaps (vii) (21,134) n/a (1,217) n/a 

United States 

Fixed-for-floating electricity swaps (viii) (77,879) (76,155) 45,009 44,913 

Physical electricity forward contracts (ix) (41,463) (41,192) 46,472 46,421 

Unforced capacity forward contracts (x) (3,455) (3,535) (416) (388) 

Unforced capacity physical contracts (xi) (2,511) (2,705) (1,955) (1,908) 

Renewable energy certificates (xii) 1,494 1,563 (1,077) (1,032) 

Verified emission-reduction credits (xif) 160 137 (140) (136) 

Options (xiv) (1,611) (1,580) 1,160 1,142 

Physical gas forward contracts (xv) 16,525 16,618 118,077 116,831 

Transportation forward contracts (xvi) 1,534 1,547 568 578 

Heat rate swaps (xvii) 22,321 22,058 (1,789) (1,592) 

Fixed financial swaps (xviii) (34,760) (34,251) (47,792) (45,967) 

Foreign exchange forward contracts (xix) (1,213) n/a 1,116 n/a 

Ethanol physical forward contracts (135) n/a 135 n/a 

Amortization of deferred unrealized gains on 

discontinued hedges 69,162 n/a 119,883 n/a 

Amortization of derivative financial instruments 

related to acquisitions (112,993) n/a (149,821) n/a 

Liability associated with Exchangeable Shares 

and equity-based compensation - n/a (3,354) n/a 

Change in fair value of contingent consideration (5,436) n/a n/a n/a 

Change in fair value of derivative instruments $ 	(96,345) $ 	506,047 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The following table summarizes certain aspects of the financial assets and liabilities recorded in the consolidated financial 

statements as at March 31, 2012: 

Other Other Other Other 
assets assets liabilities liabilities 

(current) (long term) (current) (long term) 

Canada 

Fixed-for-floating electricity swaps (i) $ -. $ 	- $ 105,794 $ 	74,614 

Renewable energy certificates (ii) 154 49 158 292 

Verified emission-reduction credits (iii) - - 387 462 

Options (iv) 975 359 1,644 656 

Physical gas forward contracts (v) - - 159,742 89,576 

Transportation forward contracts (vi) - - 5,396 2,776 

Fixed financial swaps (vii) - - 8,192 14,159 

United States 

Fixed-for-floating electricity swaps (viii) - 11 90,698 41,425 

Physical electricity forward contracts (ix) - - 121,213 30,674 

Unforced capacity forward contracts (x) 5 - 1,664 2,086 

Unforced capacity physical contracts (xi) 724 - 4,642 1,225 

Renewable energy certificates (xii) 266 305 750 889 

Verified emission-reduction credits (xiii) 42 80 304 420 

Options (xiv) 73 - 601 349 

Physical gas forward contracts (xv) 40 - 29,442 7,720 

Transportation forward contracts (xvi) 34 - 1,137 241 

Heat rate swaps (xvii) 10,307 14,511 - - 

Fixed financial swaps (xviii) - - 81,497 42,054 

Foreign exchange forward contracts (xix) 179 - - - 

Contingent consideration - Newten - - 1,376 - 

Contingent consideration - Fulcrum (Note 9) - 21,407 

Asat March 3l,2012 $ 12,799 $ 	15,315 $ 636,044 $ 	309,617 

The following table summarizes certain aspects of the financial assets and liabilities recorded in the consolidated financial 

statements as at March 31, 2011: 

Other Other Other Other 

assets assets liabilities liabilities 

(current) (long term) (current) (long term) 

Canada 

Fixed-for-floating electricity swaps (i) $ - $ 	- $ 131,279 $ 	93,397 

Renewable energy certificates (ii) 194 196 158 417 

Verified emission-reduction credits (iii) - - 315 628 

Options (iv) 815 692 4,403 - 

Physical gas forward contracts (v) - - 166,634 134,847 

Transportation forward contracts (vi) - 24 5,301 2,858 

Fixed financial swaps (vii) - 1,037 2,235 19 

United States 

Fixed-for-floating electricity swaps (viii) 125 45 29,028 25,719 

Physical electricity forward contracts (ix) - 310 55,548 37,535 

Unforced capacity forward contracts (x) 309 177 581 118 

Unforced capacity physical contracts (xi) 100 410 1,606 1,280 

Renewable energy certificates (xii) 44 49 1,037 1,610 

Verified emission-reduction credits (xiii) 13 36 275 491 

Options (xiv) 1 - 1,056 165 

Physical gas forward contracts (xv) 40 - 32,883 19,354 

Transportation forward contracts (xvi) - - 1,526 1,281 

Heat rate swaps (xvii) 639 2,408 180 131 

Fixed financial swaps (xviii) 40 - 51,361 35,562 

Foreign exchange forward contracts (xix) 1,391 - - - 

Ethanol physical forward contracts 135 - - - 

As at March 31, 2011 $ 3,846 $ 	5,384 $ 485,406 $ 	355,412 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The following table summarizes certain aspects of the financial assets and liabilities recorded in the consolidated financial 

statements as at April 1,2010: 

Other Other Other Other 
assets assets liabilities liabilities 

(current) (long term) (current) (long term) 

Canada 

Fixed-for-floating electricity swaps (i) $ 	- $ 	- $ 	244,563 $ 	212,920 

Renewable energy certificates (ii) 350 621 30 139 

Verified emission-reduction credits (iii) 2 7 - - 

Options (iv) 757 416 - - 

Physical gas forward contracts (v) - - 237,145 203,088 

Transportation forward contracts (vi) - - 11,060 8,439 

United States 

Fixed-for-floating electricity swaps (viii) 

Physical electricity forward contracts (ix) 

Unforced capacity forward contracts (x) 

Unforced capacity physical contracts (xi) 

Renewable energy certificates (xii) 

Verified emission-reduction credits (xiii) 

Options (xiv) 

Physical gas forward contracts (xv) 

Transportation forward contracts (xvi) 

Heat rate swaps (xvii) 

Fixed financial swaps (xviii) 

Foreign exchange forward contracts (xix) 

As at April 1, 2010 

- - 31,291 30,464 
- - 38,015 39,035 

523 102 445 9 

33 146 731 - 

107 130 918 945 
- - 167 447 
- - 912 915 
- - 96,938 75,142 
- - 1,265 2,262 

654 3,605 - - 
� - 21,720 16,767 

277 -  - - 

$ 	2,703 	$ 5,027 $ 	685,200 $ 	590,572 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The following table summarizes financial instruments classified as held-for-trading as at March 31, 2012, to which Just Energy 

has committed: 

Total Fair value 
Notional remaining favourable! Notional 

Contract type volume volume Maturity date Fixed price (unfavourable) value 

Canada 

(i) Fixed-for-floating 0.0001-48 7,536,951 April 30, 2012- $22.20-$128.13 ($180,408) $438180 

electricity swaps * MWh MWh December 31, 2019 

(ii) Renewable energy 10-90,000 780,310 December 31, 2012- $3.00-526.00 ($247) $5,151 

certificates MWh MWh December 31, 2015 

(iii) Verified emission- 6,000-50,000 599,000 December 31, 2013- $6.25-511.50 ($849) $5,307 

reduction credits tonnes tonnes December 31, 2016 

(iv) Options 119-33,000 713,089 April 30, 2012 - $7.16-$12.39 ($966) $1,832 

GJ/month Gi February 28, 2014 

(v) Physical gas forward 1-8,376 64,316388 April 30, 2012- $1.35-$10.00 ($249,318) $430,907 
contracts GJ/day GJ March 31, 2016 

(vi) Transportation forward 74-17,000 35,595,520 April 30, 2012- $0.0025-51.5600 ($8,172) $18,079 

contracts GJ/day GJ August 31, 2015 

(vii) Fixed financial swaps 14,000-139,500 19,853,500 March 31, 2013- 52.34-55.20 ($22,351) $88,642 

Gi/month GJ March 31, 2017 

United States 

(viii) Fixed-for-floating 0.10-80 9,577,598 April 30, 2012- $24494136.41 ($132,112) $488,254 

electricity sw a p s * MWh MWh March 31, 2017 (US$24.55-$136.75) (US($132.443)) (US$489,478) 

(ix) Physical electricity 1-100 13,393,411 April 30, 2012- $26.77-$109.97 ($151,887) $624,024 

forwards MWh MWh May 31, 2017 (US$26.84-s1 10.25) (US($152,268)) (US$625,588) 

)v) 	Unforced capacity 3-150 118,766 June 30, 2012- $1,812-$7,980 ($3,745) $7,739 

forward contracts MWCap MWCap May 31, 2014 (US$1,817-$8,000) (US)$3,754)) (US$7,758) 

(xi) Unforced capacity 1-280 5,336 April 30, 2012- $84849327 ($5,144) $27,672 

physical contracts MWCap MWCap May 31, 2014 (US$850-$9,350) (US($5,157)) (US$27,741) 

(xii) Renewable energy 300-160,000 2,987,250 December 31, 2012 - $0.55-$42.64 ($1,068) $15,992 

certificates MWh MWh December 31, 2017 (US$0.55-$42.75) (US($1,071)) (US$16,032) 

(xiii) Verified emission- 8,000-50,000 658,000 December 31, 2012- $3.49-58.73 ($602) $4,064 

reduction credits tonnes tonnes December 31, 2016 (US$3,50-$8.75) (US($604)) (US$4,074) 

(xiv) Options 60-60,000 1,233,065 April 30, 2012- $7.73-$13.77 ($877) $166 

mmBTU/month mmBTU December 31, 2014 (US$7.75-$13.80) (US($879)) (US$166) 

(xv) Physical gas forward 5-2,500 7,1 39,328 April 2, 2012- $2.21-$1 1.85 ($37,122) $58,701 

contracts mmBTU/month mmBTU July 31, 2014 (US$2.22-$1 1.88) (US($37,2 15)) (US$58,848) 

(xxi) 	Transportation forward 15-13,205 10,739,615 April 02, 2012- $0.08-$1 .50 ($1344) $22,967 

contracts mmBTU/day mmBTU August 31, 2015 (US$0.08-S 1.50) (US($ 1,347)) (US$23,025) 

(xvii) Heat rate swaps 1-50 3,248,369 April 30, 2012- $14.10-565.06 $24,817 $97,111 

MWh MWh October 31, 2016 (US$14.14-$65.22) (US$24,879) (US$97,354) 

(xviii)Fixed financial swaps 930-600,000 44,416,997 April 30, 2012- $2.64-$9.24 ($123,549) $265,023 

mmBTU/month mmBTU May 31, 2017 (US$2.65-$9.26) (US($123,859)) (US$265,687) 

(xiv) 	Foreign exchange ($497-53,614) s/a April 02, 2012- $0.977-$1.048 $179 $22,630 

forward contracts (US$500-$3,500) January 2, 2013 (US$22,687) 

* Some of the electricity fixed-for-floating contracts related to the Province of Alberta and the Province of Ontario are load-following, wherein the 
quantity of electricity contained in the supply contract "follows" the usage of customers designated by the supply contract. Notional volumes 
associated with these contracts are estimates and are subject to change with customer usage requirements. There are also load shaped fixed-for- 
floating contracts in these and the rest of Just Energy’s electricity markets wherein the quantity of electricity is established but varies throughout the 
term of the contracts. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The estimated amortization of deferred gains and losses reported in accumulated other comprehensive income that is expected to 

be amortized to net income within the next 12 months is a gain of approximately $32.5 million. 

These derivative financial instruments create a credit risk for Just Energy since they have been transacted with a limited number of 

counterparties. Should any counterparty be unable to fulfill its obligations under the contracts, Just Energy may not be able to 

realize the other asset balance recognized in the consolidated financial statements. 

Fair value ("FV") hierarchy 

Level 1 
The fair value measurements are classified as Level 1 in the FV hierarchy if the fair value is determined using quoted, unadjusted 

market prices. Just Energy values its cash and cash equivalent, accounts receivable, unbilled revenue, bank indebtedness, trade 

and other payables and long-term debt under Level 1. 

Level 2 
Fair value measurements that require inputs other than quoted prices in Level 1, either directly or indirectly, are classified as Level 2 

in the FV hierarchy. This could include the use of statistical techniques to derive the FV curve from observable market prices. 

However, in order to be classified under Level 2, inputs must be substantially observable in the market. Just Energy values its 

New York Mercantile Exchange ("NYMEX") financial gas fixed-for-floating swaps under Level 2. 

Level 3 
Fair value measurements that require unobservable market data or use statistical techniques to derive forward curves from 

observable market data and unobservable inputs are classified as Level 3 in the FV hierarchy. For the electricity supply contracts, 

Just Energy uses quoted market prices as per available market forward data and applies a price-shaping profile to calculate the 

monthly prices from annual strips and hourly prices from block strips for the purposes of mark to market calculations. The profile 

is based on historical settlements with counterparties or with the system operator and is considered an unobservable input for 

the purposes of establishing the level in the FV hierarchy. For the natural gas supply contracts, Just Energy uses three different 

market observable curves: i) Commodity (predominately NYMEX), ii) Basis and iii) Foreign exchange. NYMEX curves extend for 

over five years (thereby covering the length of Just Energy’s contracts); however, most basis curves only extend 12 to 15 months 

into the future. In order to calculate basis curves for the remaining years, Just Energy uses extrapolation, which leads natural gas 

supply contracts to be classified under Level 3. 

Fair value measurement input sensitivity 
The main cause of changes in the fair value of derivative instruments are changes in the forward curve prices used for the fair 

value calculations. Just Energy provides a sensitivity analysis of these forward curves under the market risk section of this note. 

Other inputs, including volatility and correlations, are driven off historical settlements. 

The following table illustrates the classification of financial assets/(liabilities) in the FV hierarchy as at March 31, 2012: 

Level 1 	 Level 2 	Level 3 	 Total 

Financial assets 

Cash and short-term deposits $ 	65,419 $ - $ - $ 	65,419 

Loans and receivables 437,216 - - 437,216 

Derivative financial assets - - 28,114 28,114 

Financial liabilities 

Derivative financial liabilities - (98,193) (847,468) (945,661) 

Other financial liabilities (1,064,888) - - (1,064,888) 

Total net derivative liabilities $ 	(562,253) $ (98,193) $ (819,354) $ (1,479,800) 

The following table illustrates the classification of financial assets/(liabilities) in the FV hierarchy as at March 31, 2011: 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Financial assets 

Cash and short-term deposits $ 	98,466 $ - $ - $ 	98,466 

Loans and receivables 398,401 - - 398,401 

Derivative financial assets - 1,077 8,153 9,230 

Financial liabilities 

Derivative financial liabilities - (89,177) (751,641) (840,818) 

Other financial liabilities (886,696) - - (886,696) 

Total net derivative liabilities $ 	(389,829) $ (88,100) $ (743,488) $ (1,221,417) 



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The following table illustrates the classification of financial assets/(liabilities) in the FV hierarchy as at April 1, 2010: 

	

Level 1 	 Level 2 	Level 3 	 Total 

Financial assets 

Cash and short-term deposits 	 $ 	78,782 	$ 	- 	$ 	- $ 	78,782 

Loans and receivables 	 295,663 	 - 	 - 	295,663 

Derivative financial assets 	 - 	 - 	7,730 	7,730 

Financial liabilities 

Derivative financial liabilities 	 - 	(38,487) 	(1,237,285) 	(1,275,772) 

Other financial liabilities 	 (478,889) 	 - 	 - 	(478,889) 

Total net derivative liabilities 	 $ (104,444) 	$ 	(38,487) 	$ (1,229,555) 	$ (1,372,486) 

The following table illustrates the changes in net fair value of financial assets/(liabilities) classified as Level 3 in the FV hierarchy for 

the year ended March 31: 

Opening balance, April 1 

Total gain/(losses) - Profit for the period 

Purchases 

Sales 

Settlements 

Transfer out of Level 3 

Closing balance 

March 31, March 31, 
2012 2011 

$ 	(743,488) $ (1,229,555) 

(376,121) 6,891 

(201,235) (256,294) 

41,547 3,795 

459,943 731,675 

$ 	(819,354) $ 	(743,488) 

(b) Classification of financial assets and liabilities 

The following table represents the fair values and carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities measured at amortized cost. 

As at March 31, 2012 

Carrying 
amount Fair value 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 	53,220 	$ 53,220 

Restricted cash 12,199 12,199 

Current trade and other receivables 299,945 299,945 

Unbilled revenues 130,796 130,796 

Non-current receivables 6,475 6,475 

Other financial assets 28,114 28,114 

Bank indebtedness, trade and other payables 288,205 288,205 

Long-term debt 776,683 826,991 

Other financial liabilities 945,661 945,661 

As at March 2011 and April 1, 2010, the carrying amounts of the above financial assets and liabilities was equal to their fair value, 

except for long-term debt which had a fair value of $663,407 as at March 31, 2011, and $302,689 as at April 1, 2010. 

For the years ended March 31 

2012 	 2011 

Interest expense on financial liabilities not held-for-trading 	 $60,935$ 	59,883 

The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, current trade and other receivables, unbilled revenues and trade 

and other payables approximates the fair value due to their short-term liquidity. 

The carrying value of long-term debt approximates its fair value as the interest payable on outstanding amounts is at rates that 

vary with Bankers’ Acceptances, LIBOR, Canadian bank prime rate or U.S. prime rate, with the exception of the $90m, $330m and 

$1 OOm convertible debentures, which are fair valued, based on market value. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(c) Management of risks arising from financial instruments 

The risks associated with Just Energy’s financial instruments are as follows: 

(I) Market risk 

Market risk is the potential loss that may be incurred as a result of Changes in the market or fair value of a particular instrument 

or commodity. Components of market risk to which Just Energy is exposed are discussed below. 

Foreign currency risk 

Foreign currency risk is created by fluctuations in the fair value or cash flows of financial instruments due to changes in foreign 

exchange rates and exposure as a result of investment in U.S. operations. 

A portion of Just Energy’s income is generated in U.S. dollars and is subject to currency fluctuations. The performance of the 

Canadian dollar relative to the U.S. dollar could positively or negatively affect Just Energy’s income. Due to its growing 

operations in the U.S., Just Energy expects to have a greater exposure to U.S. fluctuations in the future than in prior years. 

Just Energy has hedged between 25% and 90% of certain forecasted cross border cash flows that are expected to occur 

within the next year. The level of hedging is dependent on the source of the cash flow and the time remaining until the cash 

repatriation occurs. 

Just Energy may, from time to time, experience losses resulting from fluctuations in the values of its foreign currency transactions, 

which could adversely affect its operating results. Translation risk is not hedged. 

With respect to translation exposure, as at March 31, 2012, if the Canadian dollar had been 5% stronger or weaker against 

the U.S. dollar, assuming that all the other variables had remained constant, net loss for the year would have been $10,700 

higher/lower and other comprehensive loss would have been $6,400 higher/lower. 

Interest rate risk 

Just Energy is also exposed to interest rate fluctuations associated with its floating rate credit facility. Just Energy’s current 

exposure to interest rates does not economically warrant the use of derivative instruments. Just Energy’s exposure to interest 

rate risk is relatively immaterial and temporary in nature. Just Energy does not currently believe that this long-term debt 

exposes it to material financial risks but has set out parameters to actively manage this risk within its Risk Management Policy. 

A 1% increase (decrease) in interest rates would have resulted in a decrease (increase) in income before income taxes for the 

year ended March 31, 2012, of approximately $1,112, respectively. 

Commodity price risk 

Just Energy is exposed to market risks associated with commodity prices and market volatility where estimated customer 

requirements do not match actual customer requirements. Management actively monitors these positions on a daily basis in 

accordance with its Risk Management Policy. This policy sets out a variety of limits; most importantly, thresholds for open 

positions in the gas and electricity portfolios which also feed a Value at Risk limit; should any of the limits be exceeded, they 

are closed expeditiously or express approval to continue to hold is obtained. Just Energy’s exposure to market risk is affected 

by a number of factors, including accuracy of estimation of customer commodity requirements, commodity prices, volatility 

and liquidity of markets. Just Energy enters into derivative instruments in order to manage exposures to changes in commodity 

prices. The derivative instruments that are used are designed to fix the price of supply for estimated customer commodity 

demand and thereby fix margins such that shareholder dividends can be appropriately established. Derivative instruments are 

generally transacted over the counter. The inability or failure of Just Energy to manage and monitor the above market risks 

could have a material adverse effect on the operations and cash flow of Just Energy. Just Energy mitigates the exposure for 

variances in customer requirements that are driven by changes in expected weather conditions, through active management of 

the underlying portfolio, which involves, but is not limited to, the purchase of options including weather derivatives. Just Energy’s 

ability to mitigate weather effects is limited by the severity of weather from normal. 

Commodity price sensitivity - all derivative financial instruments 

If the energy prices including natural gas, electricity, verified emission-reduction credits and renewable energy certificates had 

risen (fallen) by 10%, assuming that all the other variables had remained constant, income before taxes for the year ended 

March 31, 2012, would have increased (decreased) by $149,312 ($148,598) primarily as a result of the change in the fair value 

of Just Energy’s derivative instruments. 

Commodity price sensitivity - Level 3 derivative financial instruments 

If the energy prices including natural gas, electricity, verified emission-reduction credits and renewable energy certificates had 

risen (fallen) by 10%, assuming that all the other variables had remained constant, income before taxes for the year ended 

March 31, 2012, would have increased (decreased) by $137,213 ($136,512) primarily as a result of the change in the fair value 

of Just Energy’s derivative instruments. 
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(ii) Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and causes financial loss to 

another party. Just Energy is exposed to credit risk in two specific areas: customer credit risk and counterparty credit risk. 

Customer credit risk 

In Alberta, Texas, Illinois, British Columbia, New York, Massachusetts, Pennsylvania, California, Michigan, and Georgia, 

Just Energy has customer credit risk and, therefore, credit review processes have been implemented to perform credit 

evaluations of customers and manage customer default. If a significant number of customers were to default on their 

payments, it could have a material adverse effect on the operations and cash flows of Just Energy. Management factors 

default from credit risk in its margin expectations for all the above markets. 

The aging of the accounts receivable from the above markets was as follows 

March 31, March 31, April 1, 
2012 2011 2010 

Current $ 	69,738 $ 	61,695 	$ 44,531 

1-30 days 15,530 15,088 13,873 

31-60 days 5,681 5,533 4,598 

61-90 days 2,905 5,652 1,768 

Over 91 days 19,947 10,322 3,973 

$ 	113,801 $ 	98,290 	$ 68,743 

Changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts were as follows 

March 31, March 31, 

2012 2011 

Balance, beginning of year $ 	25,115 $ 	17,519 

Allowance on acquired receivables 6,940 5,591 

Provision for doubtful accounts 28,514 27,627 

Bad debts written off (29,215) (23,801) 

Other 3,572 (1,821) 

Balance, end of year $ 	34,926 $ 	25,115 

For the remaining markets, the LDCs for a fee, provide collection services and assume the risk of any bad debts owing from 

Just Energy’s customers. Management believes that the risk of the LDC5 failing to deliver payment to Just Energy is minimal 

There is no assurance that the LDCs that provide these services will continue to do so in the future. 

Counterparty credit risk 
Counterparty credit risk represents the loss that Just Energy would incur if a counterparty fails to perform under its contractual 

obligations. This risk would manifest itself in Just Energy replacing contracted supply at prevailing market rates, thus impacting 

the related customer margin. Counterparty limits are established within the Risk Management Policy. Any exceptions to these 

limits require approval from the Board of Directors of JEGI. The Risk Department and Risk Committee monitor current and 

potential credit exposure to individual counterparties and also monitor overall aggregate counterparty exposure. However, the 

failure of a counterparty to meet its contractual obligations could have a material adverse effect on the operations and cash 

flows of Just Energy. 

As at March 31, 2012, the maximum counterparty credit risk exposure amounted to $141,915, representing the risk relating 

to the Company’s derivative financial assets and accounts receivable. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(iii) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the potential inability to meet financial obligations as they fall due. Just Energy manages this risk by monitoring 

detailed weekly cash flow forecasts covering a rolling six-week period, monthly cash forecasts for the next 12 months, and 

quarterly forecasts for the following two-year period to ensure adequate and efficient use of cash resources and credit facilities. 

The following are the contractual maturities, excluding interest payments, reflecting undiscounted disbursements of 

Just Energy’s financial liabilities as at March 31, 2012: 

	

Carrying 	Contractual 	Less than 	 More than 

	

amount 	cash flows 	 1 year 	1 to 3 years 	4 to 5 years 	5 years
111 

Trade and other payables 	$ 287,145 	$ 287,145 	$ 287,145 	$ 	- 	$ 	- 	$ 	- 

Bank indebtedness 	 1,060 	1,060 	1,060 	 - 	 - 	 - 

Long-term debt* 	 776,683 	833,962 	97,611 	252,570 	26,433 	457,348 

Derivative instruments 	 945,661 	2,596,314 	1,363,421 	1,057,222 	175,049 	622 

	

$2,010,549 	$3,718,481 	$ 1,749237 	$1,309,792 	$ 201,482 	$ 457,970 

* Included in long-term debt is $330,000, $100,000 and $90,000 relating to convertible debentures, which maybe settled through the issuance 

of shares at the option of the holder or Just Energy upon maturity. 

In addition to the amounts noted above, at March 31, 2012, net interest payments over the life of the long-term debt and 

bank credit facility are as follows: 

	

Less than 	 More than 

	

1 year 	1 to 3 years 	4 to 5 years 	5 years 

Interest payments 
	

$ 	47,800 	$ 	84,304 	$ 	67,215 	$ 	61,750 

(iv) Supplier risk 

Just Energy purchases the majority of the gas and electricity delivered to its customers through long-term contracts entered 

into with various suppliers. Just Energy has an exposure to supplier risk as the ability to continue to deliver gas and electricity 

to its customers is reliant upon the ongoing operations of these suppliers and their ability to fulfill their contractual obligations. 

Just Energy has discounted the fair value of its financial assets by $1,756 to accommodate for its counterparties’ risk of default. 

NOTE 12 ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

For the year ended March 31, 2012 

Balance, beginning of year 

Unrealized foreign currency translation adjustment 

Amortization of deferred unrealized gain on discontinued 

hedges net of income taxes of $13,150 

Balance, end of year 

Foreign currency 

	

translation 	cash flow 

	

adjustment 	hedges 	 Total 

$ 	29,033 	$ 	94,886 	$ 123,919 

	

2,386 	 - 	2,386 

	

- 	(56,012) 	(56,012) 

	

31,419 	S 	38,874 	$ 	70,293 

Foreign currency 
translation Cash flow 

For the year ended March 31, 2011 adjustment hedges Total 

Balance, beginning of year $ 	28,584 $ 	193,385 $ 	221,969 

Unrealized foreign currency translation adjustment 449 - 449 

Amortization of deferred unrealized gain on discontinued 

hedges net of income taxes of $21,384 - (98,499) (98,499) 

Balance, end of year $ 	29,033 $ 	94,886 $ 	123,919 

NOTE 13 SHAREHOLDERS’ CAPITAL 

Subsequent to the Conversion 
On January 1, 2011, Just Energy issued common shares in exchange for the outstanding trust units of the Fund. The exchange of 

the trust units of the Fund was accounted for as an exchange of equity instruments at carrying value. The exchange of 

Exchangeable Shares for common shares was accounted for as an extinguishment of the liability associated with Exchangeable 

Shares at the redemption value measured on the date of the exchange. 
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Details of issued shareholders’ capital are as follows for the year ended March 31, 2012, with comparatives for the year ended 

March 31, 2011: 

Year ended March 31, 2012 Year ended March 31, 2011 

Issued and outstanding Shares Amount Shares Amount 

Balance, beginning of year 136,963,726 S 	963,982 - $ 	- 

Shares issued pursuant to the Conversion 

Trust units - - 126,583,148 808,848 

Class A preference shares (Note 29) - - 5,263,728 78,798 

Exchangeable shares (Note 29) - - 3,794,154 56,799 

Shares issued to minority shareholder in 

exchange for interest in TGF (i) - - 689,940 10,328 

Share-based awards exercised 91,684 1,385 86,374 1,097 

Dividend reinvestment plan (ii) 2,377,616 28,413 546,382 8,112 

Repurchase and cancellation of shares (iii) (84,100) (599) -  - 

Balance, end of year 139,348,926 S 	993,181 136,963,726 $ 	963,982 

(i) Shares issued 

During the year ended March 31, 2011, Just Energy issued 689,940 shares to acquire the interest held by the minority 

shareholder of TGF pursuant to the exercise of the minority holders put right. The shares were valued at $10,328 and the 

difference between $18,285 and $10,328 represents the value of the minority interest of TGF at the time of issuance. 

The value of the shares has been recorded as an increase to contributed surplus. 

(ii) Dividend reinvestment plan 

Under Just Energy’s dividend reinvestment plan ("DRIP’), Canadian resident shareholders holding a minimum of 100 common 

shares can elect to receive their dividends in common shares rather than cash at a 2% discount to the simple average closing 

price of the common shares for five trading days preceding the applicable dividend payment date, provided that the common 

shares are issued from treasury and not purchased on the open market. Effective February 1, 2012, the Company has 

suspended the DRIP 

(iii) Repurchase and cancellation of shares 

During the year, Just Energy obtained approval from its Board of Directors and the Toronto Stock Exchange to make a normal 

course issuer bid to purchase up to 13,200,917 common shares for the 12-month period commencing December 16, 2011, 

and ending December 15, 2012. A maximum of 82,430 common shares can be purchased during any trading day. 

During the year, Just Energy purchased and cancelled 84,100 common shares for a cash consideration of $955. The 

average book value of $599 was recorded as a reduction to share capital and the remaining loss of $356 was allocated to 

accumulated deficit. 

Prior to the Conversion 

Effective January 1, 2011, Just Energy completed the Conversion from an income trust to a corporation. As a result of the 

Conversion, Just Energy’s trust units, along with the issued exchangeable and Class A preference shares, were exchanged on a 

one for one basis into shares of JEGI. 

Prior to the Conversion, the trust units were redeemable at the option of the Fund’s unitholders. The redemption price was 

calculated as the lower of the closing price on the day the units were tendered for redemption and 90% of the market price of the 

units for the ten days after redemption. The Fund had no redemptions for the period for which the trust units were outstanding. 

IFRS requires financial instruments which include a redemption feature, making the instruments puttable, to be presented as a 

financial liability rather than equity. However, an exception to that requirement is available if the financial instrument meets certain 

criteria. Just Energy determined that the Fund’s units met the requirements for this exception and accordingly, the trust units are 

presented as equity for the periods prior to the Conversion. 
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Just Energy is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares and 50000,000 preference shares both with no par value, 

Details of issued unitholders’ capital are as follows for the year ended March 31, 2011: 

Units Amount 

Issued and outstanding 

Balance, beginning of year 124,325,307 	$ 777,856 

Unit-based awards exercised 38,989 462 

Distribution reinvestment plan 1,324,834 17,935 

Exchanged from Exchangeable Shares 894,018 12,595 

Units exchanged pursuant to the Conversion (126,583,148) (808,848) 

Balance, end of year 	 - - 	$ - 

NOTE 14 SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS 

Stock option plan 
Just Energy grants awards under its 2010 share option plan (formerly the 2001 Unit Option Plan) to directors, officers, full-time 

employees and service providers (non-employees) of Just Energy and its subsidiaries and affiliates although no share options have 

been granted since 2008. In accordance with the share option plan, Just Energy may grant options to a maximum of 11,300,000 

shares. As at March 31, 2012, there were 1,264,166 options still available for grant under the plan. Of the options issued, 50,000 

options remain outstanding at year-end. The exercise price of the share options equals the closing market price of the Company’s 

shares on the last business day preceding the grant date. The share options vest over periods ranging from three to five years from 

the grant date and expire after five or ten years from the grant date. 

A summary of the changes in Just Energy’s option plan during the year and status as at March 31, 2012, is outlined below. 

Weighted 

Outstanding Range of average 

options exercise prices exercise p r i ce r 

Balance, beginning of year 135,000 $15.09�$17.47 $ 	16.38 

Forfeited/cancelled 85,000 $16.65�$17.47 $ 	17.13 

Balance, end of year 50,000 $15.09 $ 	15.09 

1 The weighted average exercise price is calculated by dividing the exercise price of options granted by the number of options granted. 

2012 Options outstanding 	- Options exercisable 

Weighted 
average Weighted Weighted 

remaining average average 

Number contractual exercise Number exercise 

Exercise price outstanding life price exercisable price 

$15.09 50,000 0.25 $ 	15.09 50,000 $ 	15.09 

2011 Options outstanding Options exercisable 

Weighted 
average Weighted Weighted 

remaining average average 

Number contractual exercise Number exercise 

Range of exercise prices outstanding life price exercisable price 

$15.09�$17.47 135,000 0.59 $ 	16.38 98,000 $ 	16.51 

Options available for grant 	 Year ended 	Year ended 

	

March 31, 	March 31, 

	

2012 	 2011 

I- 

Balance, beginning of year 	 1,179,166 	961,666 

Add: Cancelled/forfeited during the year 	 85,000 	217,500 

Balance, end of year 	 1,264,166 	1,179,166 
4 

>- 

z 

I.- 
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(b) Restricted share grants 

Just Energy grants awards under the 2010 Restricted Share Grants Plan (formerly the 2004 unit appreciation rights, "UARs") in 

the form of fully paid restricted share grants (" RSG5") to senior officers, employees and service providers of its subsidiaries and 

affiliates. On June 29, 2010, the unitholders of Just Energy approved a 2,000,000 increase in the number of RSGs available for 

grant. As at March 31, 2012, there were 1,657,354 RSGs (2011 - 1,969,883) still available for grant under the plan. Of the RSGs 

issued, 3,024,023 remain outstanding at March 31, 2012 (2011 -2,711,494). Except as otherwise provided, (i) the RSGs vest 

from one to five years from the grant date providing, in most cases, on the applicable vesting date the RSG grantee continues as a 

senior officer, employee or service provider of Just Energy or any affiliate thereof; (ii) the RSGs expire no later than ten years from 

the grant date; (iii) a holder of RSGs is entitled to payments at the same rate as dividends paid to JEGI shareholders; and (iv) when 

vested, the holder of an RSG may exchange one RSG for one common share. On January 1, 2011, as part of the Conversion, all 

unit appreciation rights outstanding on that date were replaced by RSGs. 

March 31, March 31, 
RSGs available for grant 2012 2011 

Balance, beginning of year 1,969,883 74,472 

Less: Granted during the year (823,536) (234,620) 

Add: Increase in RSG5 available for grant - 2,000,000 

Add: Cancelled/forfeited during the year 419,323 4,668 

Add: Exercised during the year 91,684 125,363 

Balance, end of year 1,657,354 1,969,883 

(c) Deferred share grants 

Just Energy grants awards under its 2010 Directors’ Compensation Plan (formerly the 2004 Directors’ deferred compensation 

plan, "UARs") to all independent directors on the basis that each director is required to annually receive $15 of their 

compensation entitlement in deferred share grants ("DSGs") and may elect to receive all or any portion of the balance of their 

annual compensation in DSG5 and/or common shares. The holders of DSG5 and/or common shares are also granted additional 

DSGs/common shares on a monthly basis equal to the monthly dividends paid to the shareholders of Just Energy. The DSGs vest 

on the earlier of the date of the director’s resignation or three years following the date of grant and expire ten years following the 

date of grant. As at March 31, 2012, there were 54,638 DSGs (2011 -84,118) available for grant under the plan. Of the DSGs 

issued, 146,855 DSGs remain outstanding at March 31, 2012. In accordance with the Conversion, all outstanding directors’ 

deferred unit grants were replaced with DSG5. 

DSGs available for grant 

Balance, beginning of year 

Less: Granted during the year 

Balance, end of year 

NOTE 15 LONG-TERM DEBT AND FINANCING 

Credit facility (a) 

Less: Debt issue costs (a) 

TGF credit facility (b)(i) 

TGF debentures (b)(ii) 

TGF term/operating facilities (b)(iii) 

NHS financing (c) 

$90 million convertible debentures (d) 

$330 million convertible debentures (e) 

$100 million convertible debentures (f) 

Capital leases (g) 

Less: current portion 

March 31, March 31, 
2012 2011 

84,118 108,248 

(29,480) (24,130) 

54,638 84,118 

March 31, March 31, April 1, 
2012 2011 2010 

$ 	98,455 $ 	53,000 $ 	57,500 

(1,196) (1,965) (1,381) 

32,046 36,680 41,313 

35,818 37,001 37,001 
- - 10,000 

147,220 105,716 65,435 

86,101 84,706 83,417 

291,937 286,439 - 

85,879 - - 

423 - - 

776,683 601,577 293,285 

(97,611) (94,117) (61,448) 

$ 	679,072 $ 	507,460 $ 	231,837 

0 

0 

4 
0 z z 
4 
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Future annual minimum repayments are as follows: 

Credit facility (a) 

TGF credit facility (b)(i) 

TGF debentures (b)(ii) 

NHS financing (c) 

$90 million convertible debentures (d) 

$330 million convertible debentures (e) 
,--.....-..-.- ,-4,,L-,-,.-,,-. ,..-,,- [0 ._ 

More than 5 

	

Less than 1 year 1 to 3 years 	4 to 5 years 	years 	Total 

$ 	 $ 98,455 $ 	 $ 	- $ 98,455 

	

32,046 	- 	- 	- 	32,046 

	

35,818 	- 	 - 	35,818 

	

29,472 	63,967 	26,433 	27,348 	147,220 

	

90,000 	 - 	90,000 
- 	 - 	330,000 	330,000 

00 I 	111101 	convert) uule ueuei RUIO 	\!) - 	 00,000 I 00,000 

Capital leases (g) 275 	148 	 - 423 

$ 	97,611 	$ 	252,570 $ 	26,433 	$ 	457,348 $ 833,962 

The following table details the finance costs for the year ended March 31 	Interest is expensed at the effective interest rate 

Marth31 March 31,  
2012 2011 

Credit facility (a) $ 	8,818 	$ 9,229 

TGF credit facility (b)(i) 2,056 2,013 

TGF debentures (b)(ii) 4,360 4,269 

TGF term/operating facilities (b)(iii) - 515 

NHS financing (c) 10,011 6,464 

$90 million convertible debentures (d) 6,795 6,690 

$330 million convertible debentures (e) 25,298 22,638 

$100 million convertible debentures (f) 3,832 - 

Capital lease interest (g) 32 - 

Unwinding of discount on provisions (Note 17) (267) 267 

Dividend classified as interest (Note 31) - 7,798 

$ 	60,935 	$ 	59,883 

(a) As at March 31, 2012, Just Energy has a $350 million credit facility to meet working capital requirements. The syndicate of 

lenders includes Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce, Royal Bank of Canada, National Bank of Canada, SociØtØ GØnØrale, 

The Bank of Nova Scotia The Toronto Dominion Bank and Alberta Treasury Branches The term of the facility expires on 

December 31, 2013. 

Interest is payable on outstanding loans at rates that vary with Bankers Acceptances LIBOR Canadian bank prime rate or 

U S prime rate Under the terms of the operating credit facility, Just Energy is able to make use of Bankers Acceptances and 

LIBOR advances at stamping fees that vary between 2.88% and 3.38%. Prime rate advances are at rates of Interest that vary 

between bank prime plus 1.88% and 2.38% and letters of credit are at rates that vary between 2.88% and 3.38%. Interest 

rates are adjusted quarterly based on certain financial performance indicators. 

As at March 31 2012 the Canadian prime rate was 3.0% and the U S prime rate was 3.25%. As at March 31, 2012 Just 

Energy had drawn $98,455 (March 31 2011 -$53 000) against the facility and total letters of credit outstanding amounted 

to $121,054 (March 31 2011 -$78209) As at March 31 2012 unamortized debt issue costs relating to the facility are 

$1,196 (March 31, 2011 - $1,965). As at March 31, 2012, Just Energy has $130,491 of the facility remaining for future 

working capital and security requirements. Just Energy’s obligations under the credit facility are supported by guarantees 

of certain subsidiaries and affiliates and secured by a general security agreement and a pledge of the assets and securities 

of Just Energy and the majority of its operating subsidiaries and affiliates excluding, among others, NHS, Hudson Solar and 

TGF. Just Energy is required to meet a number of financial covenants under the credit facility agreement. As at March 31, 

2012, all of these covenants had been met. 

(b) In connection with an acquisition, Just Energy acquired the debt obligations of TGF, which currently comprise the following 

separate facilities: 

(i) TGF credit facility 

A credit facility of up to $50,000 was established with a syndicate of Canadian lenders led by Conexus Credit Union and was 

arranged to finance the construction of the ethanol plant in 2007. The facility was revised on March 18, 2009, and was 

converted to a fixed repayment term of ten years, commencing March 1, 2009, which includes interest costs at a rate of prime 
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plus 3% with principal repayments scheduled to commence on March 1 2010. The credit facility is secured by a demand 

debenture agreement, a first priority security interest on all assets and undertakings of TGF, a mortgage on title to the land 

owned by TGF and a general security interest on all other current and acquired assets of TGF. The credit facility includes certain 

financial covenants, the most significant of which relate to current ratio, debt to equity ratio, debt service coverage and 

minimum shareholders’ capital. The covenants were measured as at March 31, 2012, and TGF failed to meet all required 

covenants. The non-compliance was waived by the lenders but did result in a non-compliance fee of $90, representing 0.25% 

of the loan balance as at March 31, 2012. The non-compliance fee was accrued as at March 31, 2012. As at March 31, 2012, 

the amount owing under this facility amounted to $32,046. The lenders have no recourse to the Company or any other 

Just Energy entity. 

(ii) TGF debentures 

A debenture purchase agreement with a number of private parties providing for the issuance of up to $40,000 aggregate 

principal amount of debentures was entered into in 2006. On April 1, 2011, the interest rate was increased to 12%. The 

agreement includes certain financial covenants, the more significant of which relate to current ratio, debt to capitalization 

ratio, debt service coverage, debt to EBITDA and minimum shareholders’ equity. Compliance with the new covenants will be 

measured annually beginning with the fiscal 2012 year-end. The maturity date has been extended to May 15, 2014, with a call 

right any time after April 1, 2013. On March 31, 2012, TGF agreed with the debenture holders to increase the quarterly 

blended principal and interest payments to $1,186 and to fine tune the financial covenants for fiscal 2013 to be more in line 

with the expected financial results of TGF for the year. TGF also agreed to make an additional debt repayment after March 31, 

2013, if the cash flow from operations exceeds $500 for the year 2013, provided that this type of payment will not create a 

non-compliance issue for the Company under the TGF credit facility. The debenture holders have no recourse to the Company 

or any other Just Energy entity. As at March 31, 2012, the amount owing under this debenture agreement amounted 

to $35,818. 

(iii) TGF term/operating facilities 

TGF’s term loan for $10,000 was secured by liquid investments on deposit with the lender. The amount owing under this 

facility was bearing interest at prime plus 1% and was repaid in full in the prior year. 

(iv) TGF has a working capital operating line of $7,000 bearing interest at a rate of prime plus 2%. In addition to the amount 

shown on the consolidated statements of financial position as bank indebtedness, TGF has total letters of credit issued 

of $250. 

(c) NHS entered into a long-term financing agreement for the funding of new and existing rental water heater and HVAC 

contracts in the Enbridge and Union Gas distribution territories. Pursuant to the agreement, NHS receives financing of an 

amount equal to the present value of the first five, seven or ten years of monthly rental income, discounted at the agreed 

upon financing rate of 7.99% and, as settlement, is required to remit an amount equivalent to the rental stream from 

customers on the water heater and HVAC contracts for the first five, seven or ten years. As security for performance of the 

obligation, NHS has provided security over the water heaters, HVAC equipment and rental contracts, subject to the financing 

rental agreement, as collateral. 

The financing agreement is subject to a holdback provision, whereby 3% in the Enbridge territory and 5% in the Union Gas 

territory of the outstanding balance of the funded amount is deducted and deposited into a reserve account in the event of 

default. Once all obligations of NHS are satisfied or expired, the remaining funds in the reserve account will immediately be 

released to NHS. 

NHS has $147,220 owing under this agreement, including $6,412 relating to the holdback provision, recorded in non-current 

receivables, as at March 31, 2012. NHS is required to meet a number of non-financial covenants under the agreement. As at 

March 31, 2012, all of these covenants had been met. 

(d) In conjunction with an acquisition, the Company also acquired the obligations of the convertible unsecured subordinated 

debentures (the "$90 million convertible debentures") issued in October 2007. The fair value of the $90 million convertible 

debentures was estimated by discounting the remaining contractual payments at the time of acquisition. This discount will be 

accreted using an effective interest rate of 8%. These instruments have a face value of $90,000 and mature on September 30, 

2014, unless converted prior to that date, and bear interest at an annual rate of 6% payable semi-annually on March 31 and 

September 30 of each year. Each $1,000 principal amount of the $90 million convertible debentures is convertible at anytime 

prior to maturity or on the date fixed for redemption, at the option of the holder, into approximately 34.09 shares, 

representing a conversion price of $29.33 per common share as at March 31, 2012. Pursuant to the $90 million convertible 

debentures, if the Company fixes a record date for the payment of a dividend, the conversion price shall be adjusted in 

accordance therewith. During the year ended March 31, 2012, interest expense amounted to $6,795, respectively. 
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On and after October 1, 2010, but prior to September 30, 2012, the $90 million convertible debentures are redeemable, in 

whole or in part, at a price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest, at Just Energy’s sole 

option on not more than 60 days’ and not less than 30 days’ prior notice, provided that the current market price on the date 

on which notice of redemption is given is not less than 125% of the conversion price. On and after September 30, 2012, but 

prior to the maturity date, the $90 million convertible debentures are redeemable, in whole or in part, at a price equal to the 

principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest, at Just Energy’s sole option on not more than 60 days’ and not less 

than 30 days’ prior notice. On January 1, 2011, as part of the Conversion, Just Energy assumed all of the obligations under the 

$90 million convertible debentures. 

The Company may, at its option, on not more than 60 days’ and not less than 30 days’ prior notice, subject to applicable 

regulatory approval and provided no event of default has occurred and is continuing, elect to satisfy its obligation to repay all 

or any portion of the principal amount of the $90 million convertible debentures that are to be redeemed or that are to 

mature, by issuing and delivering to the holders thereof that number of freely tradable common shares determined by dividing 

the principal amount of the $90 million convertible debentures being repaid by 95% of the current market price on the date 

of redemption or maturity, as applicable. 

(e) In order to fund the acquisition of Hudson, on May 5, 2010, Just Energy issued $330 million of convertible extendible unsecured 

subordinated debentures (the "$330 million convertible debentures"). The $330 million convertible debentures bear interest at 

a rate of 6.0% per annum payable semi-annually in arrears on June 30 and December 31, with a maturity date of June 30, 

2017. Each $1,000 principal amount of the $330 million convertible debentures is convertible at any time prior to maturity or 

on the date fixed for redemption, at the option of the holder, into approximately 55.6 shares of the Company, representing a 

conversion price of $18 per share. During the year ended March 31, 2012, interest expense amounted to $25,298. The 

$330 million convertible debentures are not redeemable prior to June 30, 2013, except under certain conditions after a change 

of control has occurred. On or after June 30, 2013, but prior to June 30, 2015, the $330 million convertible debentures may be 

redeemed by the Company, in whole or in part, on not more than 60 days’ and not less than 30 days’ prior notice, at a 

redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest, provided that the current market 

price (as defined herein) on the date on which notice of redemption is given is not less than 125% of the conversion price 

($22.50). On and after June 30, 2015, and prior to maturity, the $330 million convertible debentures may be redeemed by Just 

Energy, in whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest. 

The Company may, at its own option, on not more than 60 days’ and not less than 40 days’ prior notice, subject to applicable 

regulatory approval and provided that no event of default has occurred and is continuing, elect to satisfy its obligation to repay 

all or any portion of the principal amount of the $330 million convertible debentures that are to be redeemed or that are to 

mature, by issuing and delivering to the holders thereof that number of freely tradable common shares determined by dividing 

the principal amount of the $330 million convertible debentures being repaid by 95% of the current market price on the date 

of redemption or maturity, as applicable. 

The conversion feature of the $330 million convertible debentures has been accounted for as a separate component of 

shareholders’ deficit in the amount of $33,914. The remainder of the net proceeds of the $330 million convertible debentures 

has been recorded as long-term debt, which will be accreted up to the face value of $330,000 over the term of the 

$330 million convertible debentures using an effective interest rate of 8.8%. If the $330 million convertible debentures are 

converted into common shares, the value of the conversion will be reclassified to share capital along with the principal amount 

converted. On January 1, 2011, as part of the Conversion, Just Energy assumed all of the obligations under the $330 million 

convertible debentures. 

As a result of adopting IFRS, Just Energy has recorded a deferred tax liability of $15,728 on its convertible debentures and 

reduced the value of the equity component of convertible debentures by this amount. 

(f) On September 22, 2011, Just Energy issued $100 million of convertible unsecured subordinated debentures (the "$100 million 

convertible debentures") which was used to purchase Fulcrum. The $100 million convertible debentures bear interest at an 

annual rate of 5.75%, payable semi-annually on March 31 and September 30 in each year commencing March 31, 2012, and 

have a maturity date of September 30, 2018. Each $1,000 principal amount of the $100 million convertible debentures is 

convertible at the option of the holder at any time prior to the close of business on the earlier of the maturity date and the last 

business day immediately preceding the date fixed for redemption into 56.0 common shares of Just Energy, representing a 

conversion price of $17.85. The $100 million convertible debentures are not redeemable at the option of the Company on or 

before September 30, 2014. After September 30, 2014, and prior to September 30, 2016, the $100 million convertible 

debentures may be redeemed by the Company, in whole or in part, on not more than 60 days’ and not less than 30 days’ 

prior notice, at a price equal to their principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest, provided that the weighted 

average trading price of the common shares is at least 125% of the conversion price. On or after September 30, 2016, the 
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$100 million convertible debentures maybe redeemed in whole or in part from time to time at the option of the Company on 

not more than 60 days’ and not less than 30 days’ prior notice, at a price equal to their principal amount plus accrued and 

unpaid interest. 

The Company may, at its option, on not more than 60 days’ and not less than 30 days’ prior notice, subject to applicable 

regulatory approval and provided no event of default has occurred and is continuing, elect to satisfy its obligation to repay all 

or any portion of the principal amount of the $100 million convertible debentures that are to be redeemed or that are to 

mature, by issuing and delivering to the holders thereof that number of freely tradable common shares determined by dividing 

the principal amount of the $100 million convertible debentures being repaid by 95% of the current market price on the date 

of redemption or maturity, as applicable. 

The conversion feature of the $100 million convertible debentures has been accounted for as a separate component of 

shareholders’ deficit in the amount of $10,188. Upon initial recognition of the convertible debenture, Just Energy recorded a 

deferred tax liability of $2,579 and reduced the equity component of the convertible debenture by this amount. The remainder 

of the net proceeds of the $100 million convertible debentures has been recorded as long-term debt, which will be accreted 

up to the face value of $100,000 over the term of the $100 million convertible debentures using an effective interest rate of 

8.6%. If the $100 million convertible debentures are converted into common shares, the value of the Conversion will be 

reclassified to share capital along with the principal amount converted. During the year ended March 31, 2012, interest 

expense amounted to $3,832. 

(g) The Company, through its subsidiary Fulcrum, leases certain computer, office equipment and software. These financing 

arrangements bear interest at rates ranging from 0% to 29% and mature between April 20, 2013 and June 30, 2014. 

NOTE 16 INCOME TAXES 

Prior to January 1, 2011, Just Energy was a specified investment flow through trust ("SIFT") for income tax purposes. As a result, 

Just Energy was subject to current taxes at the top marginal rate applicable to individuals of approximately 46.4% on all taxable 

income not distributed to unitholders. Subsequent to January 1, 2011, Just Energy completed the conversion from a SIFT to 

a corporation. 

(a) Tax expense 

2012 	 2011 

Tax recognized in profit and loss 

Current tax expense 

Deferred tax expense 

Origination and reversal of temporary differences 

Benefit (expense) arising from a previously unrecognized tax loss or temporary difference 

Reduction in tax rate resulting from reorganization 

	

$662 	$ 	8,182 

	

662 	8,182 

	

$ (48,861) 	$ 	25,891 

	

85,726 	80,693 

	

- 	58,673 

Deferred tax recovery 	 36,865 	165,257 

Total tax expense 	 $ 	37,527 	$ 173,439 

(b) Reconciliation of the effective tax rate 

The provision for income taxes represents an effective rate different than the Canadian corporate statutory rate of 27.75% 

(2011 - 30%). The differences are as follows: 

2012 2011 

$ 	(89,116) $ 	526,379 

27.75% 30.00% 

(24,730) 157,914 

(15,456) 

85,726 (119,200) 
0 

(23,343) 1,910 

- 86,847 

- 58,673 

(126) 2,751 

$ 	37,527 $ 	173,439 1 

Income (loss) before income taxes 

Combined statutory Canadian federal and provincial income tax rate 

Income tax expense (recovery) based on statutory rate 

Increase (decrease) in income taxes resulting from 

Taxes on income attributable to shareholders 

Benefit (cost) of mark to market loss and other temporary differences not recognized 

Variance between combined Canadian tax rate and the tax rate applicable to U.S. earnings 

Fair value adjustment and interest expense on preferred shares 

Reduction in tax rate resulting from reorganization 

Other permanent items 

Total income tax expense 
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(c) Recognized deferral tax assets and liabilities 

Recognized deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributed to the following: 

March 31, March 31, 
2012 2011 

Mark to market losses on derivative instruments $ 	113,907 $ 	132,486 

Tax losses and excess of tax basis over book basis 17,697 32,012 

Total deferred tax asset 131,604 164,498 

Offset of deferred taxes (57,754) (54,1 54) 

Net deferred tax asset 73,850 110,344 

Partnership income deferred for tax purposes (35,459) (14,046) 
Excess of book basis over tax basis on customer contracts (12,604) (49,141) 

Mark to market gains on derivative instruments (85) (102) 

Excess of book basis over tax basis on other assets (2,075) (2,343) 

Convertible debentures (9,056) - 

Total deferred tax liability (59,279) (65,632) 

Offset of deferred taxes 57,754 54,1 54 

Net deferred tax liability $ 	(1,525) $ 	(11,478) 

(d) Movement in deferred tax balances 

Foreign 
Balance Recognized in Recognized Recognized exchange Balance 

April 1, 2011 profit and loss in equity in 001 impact March 31, 2012 

Partnership income deferred for tax $ 	(14,046) $ 	(21,413) $ 	- $ $ 	- $ 	(35,459) 
Excess of book over tax - 

customer contracts (49,141) 31,378 - - - (17,763) 

Excess of book over tax 

on other assets 36,875 (16,486) - 387 - 20,776 

Mark to market gains (losses) on 

derivative instruments 132,888 (31,577) - 12,961 (445) 113,827 

Convertible debentures (7,710) 1,233 (2,579) - - (9,056) 

S 	98,866 $ 	(36,865) $ 	(2,579) $ 	13,348 S 	(445) $ 	72,325 

Foreign 
Balance Recognized in Recognized Recognized exchange Balance 

April 1, 2010 profit and loss in equity in OCI impact March 31, 2011 

Partnership income deferred for tax $ 	(483) $ 	(13,563) $ 	- $ 	- $ 	- $ 	(14,046) 

Excess of book over tax - 

customer contracts (73,058) 23,917 - - - (49,141) 

Excess of book over tax 

on other assets 19,662 25,094 (15,728) - 137 29,165 

Mark to market gains (losses) on 

derivative instruments 	 228,148 	(116,644) 	 - 	21,384 	 - 	132,888 

Convertible debentures 	 84,062 	(84,062) 	 - 	 - 	 - 	 - 

	

$ 258,331 	$ (165,258) $ 	(15,728) $ 	21,384 	$ 	137 	$ 	98,866 

(e) Unrecognized deferred tax assets 

I- 

0 
	 Deferred tax assets not reflected in the current period are as follows 

4 

Z 
Z 
4 

z 

Losses available for carryforward 

Mark to market on losses on derivative instruments 

Excess of book over tax basis 

Excess of book over tax - customer contracts 

	

2012 	 2011 

	

18,669 	18,406 

	

124,531 	 - 

	

7,889 	 - 

	

3,210 	 - 

0 
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Losses available for carryforward (recognized and unrecognized) are set to expire as follows: 

2026 

2027 

2028 

2029 

After 2030 

Total 

2012 

11 

2,366 

34,328 

18,345 

175,518 

230,568 

Investment Tax Credit (unrecognized) are set to expire as follows: 

2030 	 622 

In addition, there are un-deducted and unrecognized Scientific Research and Experimental Development expenses of $14,356. 

NOTE 17 PROVISIONS 
March 31, March 31, 

2012 2011 

Cost 

Balance, beginning of year $ 	7,250 $ 	7,008 

Provisions made during the year 663 2,853 

Provisions reversed and used during the year (1,506) (2,808) 

Unwinding of discount (269) 462 

Foreign exchange 156 (265) 

Balance, end of year $ 	6,294 $ 	7,250 

Current 	 3,226 	4,006 

Non-current 	 3,068 	3,244 

$ 	6,294 	$ 	7,250 

Legal issues 

The provision for legal issues shown above includes the expected cash outflows from major claims and for several smaller litigation 

matters Just Energy’s subsidiaries are party to a number of legal proceedings Just Energy believes that each proceeding 

constitutes a routine legal matter incidental to the business conducted by Just Energy and that the ultimate disposition of the 

proceedings will not have a material adverse effect on its consolidated earnings, cash flows or financial position. 

In addition to the routine legal proceedings of Just Energy, the State of California has filed a number of complaints to the FERC 

against any suppliers of electricity, including Commerce, a subsidiary of Just Energy, with respect to events stemming from the 

2001 energy crisis in California Pursuant to the complaints the State of California is challenging the FERC s enforcement of its 

market-based rate system. Although Commerce did not own generation facilities, the State of California is claiming that 

Commerce was unjustly enriched by the run-up caused by the alleged market manipulation by other market participants. The 

proceedings are currently ongoing. On March 18, 2010, the Administrative Law Judge granted the motion to strike for all parties 

in one of the complaints holding that California did not prove that the reporting errors masked the accumulation of market 

power. California has appealed the decision. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 18 OTHER INCOME, EXPENSES AND ADJUSTMENTS 

(a) Other operating expenses 

Amortization of gas contracts 

Amortization of electricity Contracts 

Amortization of water heaters and HVAC products 

Amortization of other intangible assets 

Amortization of property, plant and equipment 

Bad debt expense 

Transaction costs 

Capital tax 

Share-based compensation 

	

2012 	 2011 

$ 	23,902 	$ 	31,841 

	

54,468 	63,642 

	

1,631 	1,595 

	

28,232 	23,763 

	

5,847 	5,698 

	

28,514 	27,650 

	

1,101 	1,284 

	

- 	 188 

	

10,662 	9,914 

	

$ 154,357 	$ 165,575 

(h) Amortization and cost of inventories included in the consolidated income statement 

	

2012 	 2011 

Included in cost of sales 

Amortization 	 $ 	12,640 	$ 	9,837 

Costs recognized as an expense 	 2,255,140 	2,461,793 

5 	2,267,780 	$ 	2,471,630 

(c) Included in change in fair value of derivative instruments 

	

2012 	 2011 

Amortization of gas contracts 	 $ 	38,663 	$ 	53,757 

Amortization of electricity contracts 	 74,330 	 96,064 

(d) Employee benefit expense 

	

2012 	 2011 

Wages, salaries and commissions 	 $ 	186,122 	$ 	153,463 

Benefits 	 20,631 	 19,398 

$ 	206,753 	$ 	172,861 

NOTE 19 REPORTABLE BUSINESS SEGMENTS 
Just Energy operates in the following reportable segments: gas marketing, electricity marketing, ethanol, home services and other. 

Other represents Hudson Solar and Momentis. Reporting by products and services is in line with Just Energy’s performance 

measurement parameters. 

Transfer prices between operating segments are on an arm’s length basis in a manner similar to transactions with third parties. 

Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource 

allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on operating profit or loss and is measured 

consistently with operating profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements. Just Energy is not considered to have any 

key customers. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Gas Electricity 
2012 marketing marketing Ethanol Home services Other Consolidated 

Sales $ 	883,057 S 1,719,853 $ 	130,491 S 35,642 $ 16,226 S2,785,269 

Gross margin 140,140 316,232 17,832 27,979 15,306 517,489 

Amortization of property, plant 

and equipment 1,119 3,242 1,294 168 24 5,847 

Amortization of intangible assets 31,230 75,323 43 1,631 6 108,233 

Administrative expenses 30,822 66,263 8,229 12,901 4,182 122,397 

Selling and marketing expenses 34,546 101,236 - 4,188 37,332 177,302 

Other operating expenses 7,551 31,078 - 1,432 216 40,277 

Operating profit (loss) for the year $ 	34,872 $ 	39,090 $ 	8,266 S 7,659 $ (26,454) $ 	63,433 

Finance costs (12,657) (31,769) (6,485) (10,018) (6) (60,935) 
Change in fair value of derivative 

instruments 31,132 (125,966) (135) (1,376) - (96,345) 

Proportionate share of loss 

from joint venture (565) (1,406) - (1,971) 

Other income (loss) (7,038) 12,722 166 - 852 6,702 

Provision for (recovery of) income tax 10,236 27,292 - (1) 37,527 

Profit (loss) for the year $ 	35,508 $ 	(134,621) $ 	1,812 $ (3,735) $ (25,607) $ 	(126,643) 

Capital expenditures $ 	966 $ 	1,874 $ 	250 $ 35,685 $ 36,054 S 	74,829 

Total goodwill $ 127,055 $ 	121,827 $ 	- $ 283 $ - 	$ 	249,165 

Total assets $ 350,915 $ 	904,504 $ 	123,604 $ 159,696 $ 4,325 	$1,543,044 

Total liabilities $ 543,062 $1,250,564 $ 	76,995 $ 168,715 $ 5,117 	$2,044,453 

Gas Electricity 
2011 marketing marketing Ethanol Home services Other Consolidated 

Sales $1,185,750 $1,635,332 $ 	108,526 $ 22,566 $ 1,018 $2,953,192 

Gross margin 172,763 278,671 13,625 15,697 806 481,562 

Amortization of property, plant 

and equipment 1,450 2,741 1,193 307 7 5,698 

Amortization of intangible assets 46,092 73,154 - 1,595 - 120,841 

Administrative expenses 26,736 56,822 11,231 12,083 2,528 109,400 

Selling and marketing expenses 40,930 87,360 - 3,302 2,015 133,607 

Other operating expenses 7,465 29,935 - 1,636 - 39,036 

Operating profit (loss) for the year $ 	50,090 $ 28,659 $ 	1,201 $ (3,226) $ (3,744) $ 	72,980 

Finance costs (17,160) (29,393) (6,862) (6,468) - (59,883) 

Change in fair value of derivative 

instruments 313,265 192,647 135 - - 506,047 

Other income (loss) (17,338) 25,989 (875) (575) 34 7,235 

Provision for (recovery of) income tax 65,603 110,337 - (2,501) - 173,439 

Profit (loss) for the year $ 	263,254 $ 107,565 $ 	(6,401) $ (7,768) $ (3,710) $ 	352,940 

Capital expenditures $ 	661 $ 1,562 $ 	267 $ 30,625 $ 297 $ 	33,412 

Total goodwill $ 	126,668 $ 100,516 $ 	- $ 283 $ - $ 	227,467 

Total assets $ 	609,656 $ 688,554 $ 	162,252 $ 128,152 $ 1,412 $1,590,026 

Total liabilities $ 	644,692 $ 929,511 $ 	95,642 $ 111,189 $ 110 $1,781,144 
0 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Geographic information 
Revenues from external customers 

	

For the year 	For the year 

	

ended 	 ended 

	

March 31, 2012 	March 31, 2011 

Canada 	 S 	1,133,244 	$ 	1,411,534 

United States 	 1,652,025 	1,541658 

Total revenue per consolidated income statement 	 $ 	2,785,269 	$ 	2,953,192 

The revenue is based on the location of the customer 

Non-current assets 

Non-current assets for this purpose consist of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets and are summarized as follows: 

	

As at 	 As at 

	

March 3l,2012 	March 3l,2011 

Canada 	 $ 	480,452 $ 	542,489 

United States 	 354,384 	331,732 

Total 	 $ 	834,836 	$ 	874,221 

NOTE 20 IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLES WITH INDEFINITE LIVES 
Goodwill acquired through business combinations and intangibles with indefinite lives have been allocated to one of five cash 

generating units, which are also operating and reportable segments, for impairment testing. These units are gas marketing, 

electricity marketing, ethanol, home services and other. 

For impairment testing, goodwill and brand have been allocated as follows: 

	

Gas marketing 	 Electricity marketing 	 Home services 	 Total 

2012 	2011 	2010 	2012 	2011 	2010 	2012 	2011 	2010 	2012 	2011 	2010 

Goodwill 	$127,055 $ 126,668 $126,238 $121,827 $ 100,516 $ 60,311 $ 	283 $ 	283 $ 	283 $249,165 $ 227,467 $ 186,832 

Brand 	 1,338 	1,301 	- 	22,031 	9,391 	- 	- 	- 	- 	23,369 	10,692 	- 

	

$128,393 $127,969 $126,238 $143,858 $109,907 $ 60,311 $ 	283 $ 	283 $ 	283 $272,534 $ 238,159 $186,832 

Just Energy performed its annual impairment test as at March 31, 2012. Just Energy considers the relationship between its market 

capitalization and its book value, among other factors, when reviewing for indicators of impairment. As at March 31, 2012, the 

market capitalization of Just Energy was above the book value of its equity, indicating that a potential impairment of goodwill and 

intangibles with indefinite lives does not exist. 

The recoverable amount of each of the units has been determined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections 

from financial budgets covering a five-year period. The projections for the first three years have been approved by the Audit 

Committee; the assumptions used in the following two years have been approved by the Executive Committee. The calculation of 

the value in use for each unit is most sensitive to the following assumptions: 

� Customer consumption assumptions used in determining gross margin 

� New customer additions and attrition and renewals 

� Selling costs 

� Discount rates 

� Growth rates used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the budget period 

Customer consumption is forecasted using normalized historical correlation between weather and customer consumption and 

weather projections. Just Energy uses weather derivatives to mitigate the risk that weather will deviate from expectations. An 

average customer consumption growth rate of 9%  was used in the projections. An isolated 5% decrease in the consumption 

assumptions would not have an impact on the results of the impairment test. 

New customer additions and attrition and renewal rate estimates are based on historical results and are adjusted for new marketing 

initiatives that are included in the budget. A 9% average increase in the overall customer base was used in the projections. 

An isolated 5% decrease annually in the overall customer base would not have an impact on the results of the impairment test. 



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Selling costs fluctuate with customer additions, renewals and attrition. Selling costs used in the financial forecast are based on 

assumptions consistent with the above new customer additions, renewals and attritions. Rates used are based on historical 

information and are adjusted for new marketing initiatives included in the budget. An average increase of Y% was applied to 

selling costs in the projections. An isolated 5% increase annually in selling costs would not have an impact on the results of the 

impairment test. 

Discount rates represent the current market assessment of the risks specific to the Company, regarding the time value of money 

and individual risks of the underlying assets. The discount rate calculation is based on the specific circumstances of Just Energy 

and its operating segments and is derived from its weighted average cost of capital (WACC), The WACC takes into account both 

debt and equity. The cost of equity is derived from the expected return on investment by Just Energy’s investors and the cost of 

debt is based on the interest bearing borrowings the Company is obliged to service. Just Energy used a discount rate of 9%. 

An isolated 5% increase in the WACC would not have an impact on the results of the impairment test. 

Financial projections used in the budget period which covers years 1, 2 and 3 have been approved by the Executive Committee. 

The results in years 4 and 5 are based on year 3 results adjusted for inflation. An isolated 5% decrease in the growth rates used to 

extrapolate cash flows beyond the budget period would not have an impact on the results of the impairment test. 

NOTE 21 INCOME (LOSS) PER SHARE/UNIT 

2012 	 2011 

Basic income (loss) per share/unit 

Net income (loss) available to shareholders $ (126,522) $ 355,076 

Basic shares and units outstanding 138,227,174 128,171,630 

Basic income (loss) per share/unit $ (0.92) $ 2.77 

Diluted income (loss) per share/unit’ 

Net income (loss) available to shareholders $ (126,522) $ 355,076 

Adjusted net income for dilutive impact of convertible debentures - 14,000 

Adjusted net income for financial liabilities - 9,609 

Adjusted net income (loss) (126,522) 378,685 

Basic shares and units outstanding 138,227,174 128,171,630 

Dilutive effect of: 

Weighted average number of Class A preference shares - 4,009,086 

Weighted average number of Exchangeable Shares - 3,098,124 

Restricted share grants - 2,737,214 

Deferred share grants - 93,231 

Convertible debentures - 19,541,261 

Shares/units outstanding on a diluted basis 138,227,174 157,650,546 

Diluted income (loss) per share/unit $ (0.92) $ 2.40 

The $90 million, $330 million, $100 million convertible debentures, restricted and deferred share grants are anti-dilutive for fiscal 2012 and the stock 
option rights are anti-dilutive for fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011. 

NOTE 22 CAPITAL DISCLOSURE 

Just Energy defines capital as shareholders’ equity (excluding accumulated other comprehensive income) and long-term debt. 

Just Energy’s objectives when managing capital are to maintain flexibility by: 

i) enabling it to operate efficiently; 

ii) providing liquidity and access to capital for growth opportunities; and 

ii) providing returns and generating predictable cash flow for dividend payments to shareholders. 

Just Energy manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk 

characteristics of the underlying assets. The Board of Directors does not establish quantitative return on capital criteria for 

management, but rather promotes year over year sustainable and profitable growth. Just Energy’s capital management objectives 

have remained unchanged from the prior year. Just Energy is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements other 

than financial covenants in its credit facilities, and as at March 31, 2012 and 2011, all of these covenants have been met. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 23 GUARANTEES 

(a) Officers and directors 
Corporate indemnities have been provided by Just Energy to all directors and certain officers of its subsidiaries and affiliates for 

various items including, but not limited to, all costs to settle suits or actions due to their association with Just Energy and its 

subsidiaries and/or affiliates, subject to certain restrictions. Just Energy has purchased directors’ and officers’ liability insurance to 

mitigate the cost of any potential future suits or actions. Each indemnity, subject to certain exceptions, applies for so long as the 

indemnified person is a director or officer of one of Just Energy’s subsidiaries and/or affiliates. The maximum amount of any 

potential future payment cannot be reasonably estimated. 

(b) Operations 
In the normal course of business, Just Energy and/or Just Energy’s subsidiaries and affiliates have entered into agreements that 

include guarantees in favour of third parties, such as purchase and sale agreements, leasing agreements and transportation 

agreements. These guarantees may require Just Energy and/or its subsidiaries to compensate counterparties for losses incurred by 

the counterparties as a result of breaches in representation and regulations or as a result of litigation claims or statutory sanctions 

that may be suffered by the counterparty as a consequence of the transaction. The maximum payable under these guarantees is 

estimated to be $112,305. 

NOTE 24 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL REMUNERATION 
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise influence over the other party 

in making financial or operation decisions. The definition includes subsidiaries, joint ventures and other persons. 

Subsidiaries and joint ventures 
Transactions between Just Energy and its subsidiaries meet the definition of related party transactions. These transactions are 

eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in these financial statements. Transactions with joint ventures are disclosed 

in Note 10. 

Key management personnel 
Just Energy’s key management personnel and persons connected with them are also considered to be related parties for disclosure 

purposes. Key management personnel are defined as those individuals having authority and responsibility for planning, directing 

and controlling the activities of Just Energy and comprise the Chair of the Board of Directors, the Chief Executive Officer and the 

Chief Financial Officer. 

During the year ended March 31, 2012, Just Energy recorded the following as an expense related to these individuals: 

	

March 31, 2012 	March 31, 2011 

Salaries and benefits 
	

$ 	4,242 	$ 	2,605 

Stock-based compensation 
	

5,490 	 3,530 

$ 	9,732 	$ 	6,135 

As at March 31, 2012, these individuals held approximately 1,631,500 RSGs (2011 - 1,324,000). 

NOTE 25 DISTRIBUTIONS AND DIVIDENDS PAID AND PROPOSED 
For the year ended March 31, 2012, dividends of $1.24 (2011 - $1.24) per share/unit were declared and paid by Just Energy. 

This amounted to $175,382 (2011 �$148,335), which was approved throughout the year by the Board of Directors and was paid 

out during the year. 

Declared dividends subsequent to year-end 
On April 2, 2012, the Board of Directors of Just Energy declared a dividend in the amount of $010333 per common share 

($1.24 annually). The dividend was paid on April 30, 2012, to shareholders of record at the close of business on April 16, 2012. 

On May 2, 2012, the Board of Directors of Just Energy declared a dividend in the amount of $010333 per common share 

($1.24 annually). The dividend will be paid on May 31, 2012, to shareholders of record at the close of business on May 15, 2012 
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NOTE 26 COMMITMENTS 

Commitments for each of the next five years and thereafter are as follows: 

As at March 31, 2012 

Premises and equipment leasing 

Grain production contracts 

Long-term gas and electricity contracts 

As at March 31, 2011 

Exceeding 
Less than 1 year 1 to 3 years 4 to 5 years 5 years 	Total 

$ 	8,296 S 14231 	$ 7,570 $ 7,087 $ 	35,184 

7,876 360 -- 	8,236 

1,363,421 1,057,222 175,049 622 	2,596,314 

$1,379,593 $ 1,069,813 $ 182,619 	$ 7,709 52,639,734 

Exceeding 
Less than 1 year 1 to 3 years 4 to 5 years 5 years Total 

Premises and equipment leasing $ 	8,333 $ 10,955 	$ 6,533 $ 4,841 	$ 30,662 

Master Services Agreement with EPCOR 4,974 - - - 4,974 

Grain production contracts 7,082 2,099 - - 9,181 

Long-term gas and electricity contracts 1,498,293 1,405,699 267,505 2,292 3,173,789 

$1,518,682 	$1,418,753 $ 274,038 $ 7,133 	$ 3,218,606 

AsatApril 1, 2010 
Exceeding 

Less than 1 year 1 to 3 years 4 to 5 years 5 years Total 

Premises and equipment leasing $ 	8,084 $ 10,543 $ 5,330 $ 4,828 $ 28,785 

Master Services Agreement with EPCOR 12,132 8,088 - - 20,220 

Grain production contracts 36,059 21,438 396 - 57,893 

Long-term gas and electricity contracts 1,494,003 1,621,623 415,680 2,065 3,533,371 

$1,550,278 	$1,661,692 $ 421,406 $ 6,893 $3,640,269 

Just Energy is also committed under long-term contracts with customers to supply gas and electricity. These contracts have various 

expiry dates and renewal options. Just Energy has entered into leasing contracts for office buildings and administrative equipment. 

These leases have a leasing period of between one and eight years. For the main office building of Just Energy, there is a renewal 

option for an additional five years. No purchase options are included in any major leasing contracts. 

NOTE 27 ADJUSTMENTS REQUIRED TO REFLECT NET CASH RECEIPTS FROM GAS SALES 

	

2012 	 2011 

Changes in 

Accrued gas receivables 	 $ 	22,033 	$ 	(5,749) 

Gas delivered in excess of consumption 	 (10,300) 	3,763 

Accrued gas payable 	 (15,267) 	4,266 

Deferred revenue 	 11,274 	(4,005) 

$ 	7,740 	$ 	(1,725) 

NOTE 28 CHANGES IN NON-CASH WORKING CAPITAL 

	

2012 	 2011 

Accounts receivable and unbilled revenues 	 $ 	14,048 	$ 	4,513 

Gas in storage 	 (3,520) 	(2,355) 

Prepaid expenses and deposits 	 361 	15,511 

Inventory 	 (3,082) 	(583) 

Trade and other payables and provisions 	 (34,839) 	(56,149) 

$ 	(27,032) 	$ 	(39,063) 
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NOTE 29 LIABILITY ASSOCIATED WITH EXCHANGEABLE SHARES AND EQUITY-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS 

Liability associated with Exchangeable Shares 
Since 2001 and up to and including January 1, 2011 Just Energy had Exchangeable Shares outstanding. These shares did not 

meet the definition of an equity instrument in accordance with lAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation, and accordingly, were 

classified as financial liabilities. The Exchangeable Shares were recorded upon transition to IFRS at redemption value and 

subsequent to transition were adjusted to reflect the redemption value at each reporting date. The resulting change from carrying 

value to redemption value was recorded at transition and at each reporting period to retained earnings and earnings, respectively, 

as a change in fair value of derivative instruments. All dividends attributable to exchangeable shareholders were recorded as 

interest expense in the reporting period for which the dividends were declared. 

As a result of the Conversion, the Exchangeable Shares were exchanged on a one for one basis into common shares of JEGI. 

There were no Exchangeable Shares outstanding following the Conversion. 

Equity-based compensation plans 
As the award holders were entitled to receive Fund units, which under IFRS were considered puttable financial instruments, the 

awards were classified as liability-based awards. The fair value of awards was estimated at each reporting period using the fair 

market value of the Fund units at the reporting date. The resulting measurements of the liability were recorded as change in fair 

value of derivative financial instruments. 

As a result of the Conversion, Just Energy’s equity-based compensation plan awards are now settled in non-redeemable common 

shares resulting in equity plan accounting under IFRS. Accordingly, the fair value of the vested portion of outstanding awards was 

reclassified from liability to contributed surplus on January 1, 2011. 

The following table summarizes the changes in the liability associated with the Exchangeable Shares and the equity-based 

compensation: 

	

Exchangeable Shares 	Class A preference 

	

of JEEC 	 shares of JEC 

	

Shares 	S-value 	shares 	S-value 

Opening balance�April 1, 2010 	4,688,172 	$ 66,947 5,263,728 	$ 75,166 

Exchanged 	 (894,018) 	(12,595) 	- 	 - 

Issued/forfeited 	 - 	 - 	- 	 - 

Non-cash deferred unit grant 	 - 

Unit based compensation 	 - 

Change in fair value 	 - 

Reclassified to share capital on 

the conversion to a corporation (3,794,154) 

Reclassified to contributed 

surplus on the conversion 

to a corporation 	 - 

Total 

	

$-value 	S-value 

$ 39,015 $181,128 

	

(461) 	(13,056) 

	

87 	87 

	

7,231 	7,231 

	

(2,725) 	3,354 

(135,597) 

Unit based awards 

	

Options 	oouos 	UAR5 

	

352,500 	84,138 	2,640,723 

	

- 	- 	(38,989) 

	

(217,500) 	18,362 	175,251 

2,447 	 - 	3,632 	- 	- 	- 

(56,799) (5,263728) 	(78,798) 	- 	- 	- 

- 	- 	 - (135,000) (102,500) (2,776,985) 	(43,147) (43,147) 

NOTE 30 COMPARATIVE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Certain figures from the comparative consolidated financial statements have been reclassified from statements previously 

presented to conform to the presentation of the current year’s consolidated financial statements. 
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NOTE 31 EXPLANATION OF TRANSITION TO IFRS 
For all periods up to and including the year ended March 31, 2011, Just Energy prepared its financial statements in accordance 

with CGAAP. Just Energy has prepared financial statements which comply with IFRS for periods beginning on or after April 1 

2011, as described in the accounting policies set out in Note 3. In preparing these consolidated financial statements, Just Energy’s 

opening consolidated statement of financial position was prepared as at April 1, 2010 (Just Energy’s date of transition). 

In preparing the opening FIRS consolidated statement of financial position, Just Energy has adjusted amounts previously reported 

in consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with CGAAP. An explanation of how the transition from CGAAP to 

IFRS has affected Just Energy’s financial position, financial performance and cash flows is set out in the following tables and the 

notes that accompany the tables. 

(a) Elective exemptions from full retrospective applications 
In preparing these consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS 1, First-time Adoption of International Financial 

Reporting Standards ("IFRS 1"), Just Energy has applied certain optional exemptions from full retrospective application of IFRS. 

The optional exemptions are described below. 

(i) Business combinations 

Just Energy has applied the business combinations exemption in IFRS 1 to not apply IFRS 3, Business Combinations, retrospectively. 

Accordingly, Just Energy has not restated business combinations that took place prior to the transition date. 

(ii) Share-based payments 

Just Energy has elected to apply IFRS 2, Share-based Payments, to equity instruments granted on or before November 7, 2002, or 

which are vested by the transition date. 

(iii) Borrowing costs 

lAS 23, Borrowing Costs, requires that Just Energy capitalize the borrowing costs related to all qualifying assets for which the 

commencement date for capitalization is on or after April 1, 2010. Just Energy elected not to adopt this policy early and has, 

therefore, expensed all borrowing costs prior to transition. 

(b) Mandatory exemptions to retrospective application 
In preparing these consolidated financial statements in accordance with FIRS 1, Just Energy has applied certain mandatory 

exemptions from full retrospective application of FIRS. The mandatory exceptions applied from full retrospective application of IFRS 

are described below. 

(i) Estimates 

Hindsight was not used to create or revise estimates and accordingly, the estimates previously made by Just Energy under CGAAP 

are consistent with their application under IFRS. 

(ii) Hedge accounting 

Hedge accounting can only be applied prospectively from the transition date to transactions that satisfy the hedge accounting 

criteria in AS 39 at that date. Hedging relationships cannot be designated retrospectively and the supporting documentation 

cannot be created prospectively. Just Energy has not applied any hedge accounting at or after the transition date. 

Prior to July 1, 2008, Just Energy utilized hedge accounting for its customer contracts and formally documented the relationship 

between hedging instruments and the hedged items as well as its risk management objective and strategy for undertaking various 

hedge transactions. Effective July 1, 2008, Just Energy ceased the utilization of hedge accounting. The balance still remaining in 

accumulated other comprehensive income relates to the effective portion of the hedges that are still expected to occur as of the 

transition date. 
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Reconciliation of financial position and equity at April 1, 2010: 

Canadian IFRS 
GAAP IFRS reclassifi- IFRS 

Canadian GAAP accounts balances adjustments cations balance IERS accounts 

ASSETS ASSETS 

Non-current assets Non-current assets 

Property, plant and equipment $ 	217,223 $ 	(547) $ 	- $ 	216,676 Property, plant and equipment 

Intangible assets 342,022 - 186,832 528,854 Intangible assets 

Goodwill 190,862 (4,030) (186,832) - 

Other assets long term 5,027 - - 5,027 Other non-current financial assets 

Long-term receivable 2,014 - - 2,014 Non-current receivables 

Contract initiation costs 5,587 - - 5,587 Contract initiation costs 

Future income tax assets 85,197 150,771 29,139 265,107 Deferred tax asset 

847,932 146,194 29,139 1,023,265 

Current assets Current assets 

Inventory 6,323 - - 6,323 Inventory 

Gas in storage 4,058 - - 4,058 Gas in storage 

Gas delivered in excess of consumption 7,410 - - 7,410 Gas delivered in excess of consumption 

Accounts receivable 232,579 - - 232,579 Current trade and other receivables 

Accrued gas receivables 20,793 - - 20,793 Accrued gas receivables 

Unbilled revenues 61,070 - - 61,070 Unbilled revenues 

Prepaid expenses and deposits 20,038 - - 20,038 Prepaid expenses and deposits 

Other assets - current 2,703 - - 2,703 Other current assets 

Current portion of future income tax assets 29,139 - (29,139) - 

Cash 60,132 - 18,650 78,782 Cash and cash equivalents 

Restricted cash 18,650 - (18,650) - 

462,895 - (29,139) 433,756 

TOTAL ASSETS $ 	1,310,827 $ 	146,194 $ 	- $ 	1,457,021 TOTAL ASSETS 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 

Unitholders’ deficiency Equity attributable to equity 

holders of the parent 

Deficit $ 	(1,423,698) $ (132,971) $ 	- $ 	(1,556,669) Deficit 

Accumulated other comprehensive 221,969 - - 221,969 Accumulated other comprehensive 

income income 

Unitholders’ capital 659,118 118,738 - 777,856 Unitholders’ capital 

Contributed surplus 18,832 (18,832) - - Contributed surplus 

Unitholders’ deficiency (523,779) (33,065) - (556,844) Unitholders’ deficiency 

Non-controlling interest 20,603 (182) - 20,421 Non-controlling interest 

Total Unitholders’ deficiency (503,176) (33,247) - (536,423) Total Unitholders’ deficiency 

LIABILITIES LIABILITIES 

Non-current liabilities Non-current liabilities 

Long-term debt 231,837 - - 231,837 Long-term debt 

Provisions - 3,270 (146) 3,124 Provisions 

Deferred lease inducements 1,984 - - 1,984 Deferred lease inducements 

Other liabilities - long term 590,572 - - 590,572 Other non-current financial liabilities 

Future income taxes - - 6,776 6,776 Deferred tax liability 

Liability associated with Exchangeable Liability associated with Exchangeable 

Shares and equity-based compensation - 181,128 - 181,128 Shares and equity-based compensation 

824,393 184,398 6,630 1,015,421 

Current liabilities Current liabilities 

Bank indebtedness 8,236 - - 8,236 Bank indebtedness 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 184,682 (7,460) 146 177,368 Trade and other payables 

Accrued gas payable 15,093 - - 15,093 Accrued gas payable 

Deferred revenue 7,202 - - 7,202 Deferred revenue 

Unit distribution payable 13,182 - - 13,182 Unit distribution payable 

Corporate taxes payable 6,410 - - 6,410 Income taxes payable 

Current portion of long-term debt 62,829 (1,381) - 61,448 Current portion of long-term debt 

Provisions - 3,884 - 3,884 Provisions 

Current portion future income tax liabilities 6,776 - (6,776) - 

Other liabilities - current 685,200 - - 685,200 Other current financial liabilities 

989,610 (4,957) (6,630) 978,023 

TOTAL LIABILITIES $ 	1,814,003 $ 	179,441 $ 	- $ 1,993,444 TOTAL LIABILITIES 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES $ 	1,310,827 $ 	146,194 $ 	- $1,457,021 TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Reconciliation of consolidated income statement for the year ended March 31, 2011: 

IFRS 
Canadian IFRS reclassifi- 

Canadian GAAP accounts GAAP adjustments cations IFRS IFRS accounts 

SALES 	 $ 2,953,192 $ 	- $ 	- $ 	2,953,192 SALES 

COST OF SALES 2,470,989 641 - 2,471,630 COST OF SALES 

GROSS MARGIN 482,203 (641) - 481,562 GROSS MARGIN 

EXPENSES EXPENSES 

General and administrative 109,407 (7) - 109,400 Administrative expenses 

Marketing expenses 133,607 - - 133,607 Selling and marketing expenses 

Other operating expenses - 1,284 164,291 165,575 Other operating expenses 

Bad debt expense 27,650 - (27,650) - 

Amortization of intangible assets and 

related supply contracts 120,841 - (120,841) - 

Amortization of property, plant and equipment 5,698 - (5,698) - 

Unit-based compensation 5,509 4,405 (9,914) - 

Capital tax 188 - (188) - 

$ 402,900 $ 	5,682 $ 	- $ 	408,582 

Income (loss) before the undernoted 

Interest expense 

Change in fair value of derivative 

instruments 

Other income 

Income before income taxes 

Provision for income tax expense 

NET INCOME FOR THE YEAR 

Attributable to: 

Shareholders of Just Energy 

Non-controlling interests 

	

79,303 	(6,323) 

	

50,437 	9,446 

	

(509,401) 	3,354 

	

(7,235) 	 - 

	

545,502 	(19,123) 

	

32,142 	141,297 

$ 	513,360 	$(160,420) 	$ 

$ 	515,347 	$(160,271) 	$ 

	

(1,987) 	(149) 

$ 	513,360 	$ (160,420) 	$ 

- 	72,980 Operating profit 

- 	59,883 Finance costs 

Change in fair value of instruments 

- 	(506,047) derivative instruments 

- 	(7,235) Other income 

- 	526,379 Income before income taxes 

- 	173,439 Provision for income tax expens 

- 	$ 	352,940 PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 

Attributable to: 

- 	$ 	355,076 Unitholders of Just Energy 

- 	(2,136) Non-controlling interests 

$ 	352,940 - 

Reconciliation of consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year ended March 31, 2011: 

IFIRS 
Canadian IFIRS reclassifi- 

Canadian GAAP accounts GAAP adjustments cations IFRS IFIRS accounts 

NET INCOME $ 513,360 $ (160,420) $ 	- 	$ 352,940 NET INCOME 

Unrealized gain on translation of Unrealized gain on translation of 

self-sustaining operations 334 115 - 449 self-sustaining operations 

Amortization of deferred unrealized Amortization of deferred unrealized 

gain on discontinued hedges - gain on discontinued hedges - 

net of income taxes of $21,384 (98,499) - - (98,499) net of income taxes of $21,384 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS (98,165) 115 - (98,050) OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME $ 415,195 $ (160,305) $ 	- 	$ 254,890 COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

Attributable to: Attributable to: 

Shareholders of Just Energy $ 417,182 $(160,156) $ 	- 	$ 257,026 Shareholders of Just Energy 

Non-controlling interests (1,987) (149) (2,136) Non-controlling interests 

$ 415,195 $ (160,305) $ 	- 	$ 254,890 
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Current assets 

Inventory 
Gas in storage 

Gas delivered in excess of consumption 
Accounts receivable 

Unbilled revenues 

Accrued gas receivables 

Prepaid expenses and deposits 

Other assets - current 

Corporate tax recoverable 
Current portion of future income tax assets 

Cash 
Restricted cash 

TOTAL ASSETS 

DEFICIT AND LIABILITIES 

Shareholders’ deficiency 

Deficit 
Accumulated other comprehensive 

income 

Shareholders’ capital 

Equity component of convertible debt 

Contributed surplus 

TOTAL DEFICIT 

LIABILITIES 

Non-current liabilities 
Long-term debt 

Future income taxes 

Deferred lease inducements 

Other liabilities - long term 

Provisions 

	

6,906 	 - 

	

6,133 	 - 

	

3,481 	 - 

	

281,685 	 - 

	

112,147 	 - 

	

26,535 	 - 

	

6,079 	 - 

	

3,846 	 - 

	

9,135 	 - 

	

36,375 	 - 

	

97,633 	 - 

	

833 	 - 

	

590,788 	 - 

	

$ 1,588,644 	$ 	1,382 	5 

	

S (1,063,179) 	$ (286,749) 	5 

	

123,804 	115 

	

697,052 	266,930 

	

33,914 	(15,728) 

	

22,903 	29,820 

5 	(185,506) 	$ 	(5,612) 	$ 

$ 	507,460 	5 	- 	$ 

	

2,657 	7,046 

	

1,622 	 - 

	

355,412 	 - 

	

- 	3,244 

	

867,151 	10,290 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FIRS 
balance IFRS accounts 

ASSETS 

Non-current assets 

234,002 Property, plant and equipment 

640,219 Intangible assets 

5,384 Other non-current financial assets 
29,654 Contract initiation costs 

4,569 Non-current receivables 

121,785 Deferred tax asset 

1,035,613 

Reconciliation of financial position and equity at March 31, 2011: 

	

Canadian 	 IFRS 

	

GAAP 	IERS 	reclassifi- 
Canadian GAAP accounts 	 balances 	adjustments 	cations 

ASSETS 

Non-current assets 

Property, plant and equipment 
	

$ 	235,189 	$ 	(1,187) 	$ 	- 	$ 

Intangible assets 
	

412,752 	 - 	227,467 

Goodwill 
	

224,409 	3,058 	(227,467) 

Other assets - long term 
	

5,384 	 - 	 - 

Contract initiation costs 
	

29,654 	 - 	 - 

Long-term receivable 
	

4,569 	 - 	 - 

Future income tax assets 
	

85,899 	(489) 	36,375 

	

997,856 	1,382 	36,375 

Current assets 

- 6,906 Inventory 

- 6,133 Gas instorage 

- 3,481 Gas delivered in excess of consumption 

- 281,685 Current trade and other receivables 

- 112,147 Unbilled revenues 

- 26,535 Accrued gas receivables 

- 6,079 Prepaid expenses and deposits 

- 3,846 Other current assets 

- 9,135 Corporate tax recoverable 

(36,375) - 
833 98,466 Cash and cash equivalents 

(833) - 

(36,375) 554,413 

- $ 	1,590,026 TOTALASSETS 

DEFICIT AND LIABILITIES 

Equity attributable to equity 

holders of the parent 

- $ 	(1,349,928) Deficit 

Accumulated other comprehensive 

- 123,919 income 

- 963,982 Shareholders’ capital 

- 18,186 Equity component of convertible debt 

- 52,723 Contributed surplus 

- $ 	(191,118) TOTAL DEFICIT 

LIABILITIES 

Non-current liabilities 

- $ 	507,460 Long-term debt 

13,216 22,919 Deferred tax liability 
- 1,622 Deferred lease inducements 

- 355,412 Other non-current financial liabilities 

- 3,244 Provisions 

13,216 890,657 

Current liabilities 

- 2,314 Bank indebtedness 

- 275,503 Trade and other payables 

- 19,353 Accrued gas payable 

- 9,788 Income taxes payable 

- 94,117 Current portion of long-term debt 

- 4,006 Provisions 

(13,216) - 
- 485,406 Other current financial liabilities 

(13,216) 890,487 

- $ 	1,781,144 TOTAL LIABILITIES 

Current liabilities 

Bank indebtedness 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 

Accrued gas payable 

Corporate taxes payable 
Current portion of long-term debt 

Provisions 
Current portion of future income tax liabilities 

Other liabilities - current 
0 

H- 

0 
	

TOTAL LIABILITIES 

TOTAL DEFICIT AND LIABILITIES 
0 
z 
z 
4 

0 

2,314 

282,805 

19,353 

9,788 

94,117 

13,216 

485,406 

906,999 

$ 1,774,150 

(7,302) 

4,006 

(3,296) 

$ 	6,994 	$ 

$ 1,588,644 	$ 	1,382 	$ 	- 	$ 1,590,026 TOTAL DEFICIT AND LIABILITIES 



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Notes to the reconciliation of equity as at March 31, 2011 

A. Property, plant and equipment 

CGAAP - Component accounting required but typically not practiced in Canada. 

IFRS - Where an item of property, plant and equipment comprises major components with different useful lives, the components 

are accounted for as separate items. Management has reassessed the significant parts of the ethanol plant, which has resulted in 

a decrease in amortization of the ethanol plant. 

B. Transaction costs 

CGAAP - The cost of the purchase includes the direct costs of the business combination. 

IFRS - Transaction costs of the business combination are expensed as incurred. 

Transaction costs relating to the acquisition of Hudson have been expensed under IFRS. In addition, and in accordance with 

lAS 39, management has allocated transaction costs directly attributable to the credit facility, which were previously included as 

part of a business combination, to the related long-term debt. These costs are now expensed using the effective interest rate 

method over the life of the related debt. 

C. Stock-based compensation and contributed surplus 

CGAAP - For grants of share-based awards with graded vesting, the total fair value of the award is recognized on a straight-line 

basis over the employment period necessary to vest the award. 

IFRS - Each tranche in an award is considered a separate grant with a different vesting date and fair value. Each grant is accounted 

for on that basis. As a result, Just Energy adjusted its expense for share-based awards to reflect this difference in recognition. 

D. Provisions 

CGAAP - Accounts payable, accrued liabilities and provisions are disclosed on the consolidated statement of financial position as 

a single line item. 

IFRS - Provisions are disclosed separately from liabilities and accrued liabilities and require additional disclosure. Under IFRS, 

provisions are also measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using a 

discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. This has 

resulted in an adjustment to Just Energy. 

E. Deferred tax asset/liability 

CGAAP - Deferred taxes are split between current and non-current components on the basis of either: (i) the underlying asset or 

liability or (ii) the expected reversal of items not related to an asset or liability. 

IFR5 - All deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current. 

F. Impairment 

CGAAP - A recoverability test is performed by first comparing the undiscounted expected future cash flows to be derived from 

the asset to its carrying amount. If the asset does not recover its carrying value, an impairment loss is calculated as the excess of 

the asset’s carrying amount over its fair value. 

IFRS - The impairment loss is calculated as the excess of the asset’s carrying amount over its recoverable amount, where 

recoverable amount is defined as the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value-in-use. Under the value-in-use 

calculation, the expected future cash flows from the asset are discounted to their net present value. The change in measurement 

methodology did not result in additional impairment to Just Energy under IFRS. 

G. Exchangeable Shares and equity-based compensation 

CGAAP - The Class A preference shares and Exchangeable Shares issued by a subsidiary of an income fund are presented on the 

consolidated statements of financial position of the income fund as part of unitholders’ capital if certain criteria are met. 

Just Energy had met the criteria and the Class A preference shares and Exchangeable Shares were recorded as part of 

unitholders’ capital. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

IFRS - As a result of the Class A preference shares, Exchangeable Shares and equity-based compensation being exchangeable into 

a puttable liability, the shares and equity-based compensation did not meet the definition of an equity instrument in accordance 

with lAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation, and accordingly, were classified as financial liabilities. The Exchangeable Shares 

and equity-based compensation were recorded upon transition to IFRS at redemption value and subsequent to transition were 

adjusted to reflect the redemption value at each reporting date. The resulting change from carrying value to redemption value was 

recorded at transition and at each reporting period to retained earnings and earnings, respectively, as a change in fair value of 

derivative instruments. All distributions were recorded as interest expense in the reporting period for which the dividends 

were declared. 

H. Deferred taxes 

CGAAP - There was an exemption that allowed issuers of convertible debentures to treat the difference in the convertible 

debentures as a permanent difference between tax and accounting. This exemption does not exist under IFRS. 

Under CGAAP, Just Energy’s deferred tax balances were calculated using the enacted or substantively enacted tax rates that were 

expected to apply to the reporting period(s) when the temporary differences were expected to reverse. 

IFRS - The discount on the convertible debentures has been included in assessing the Company’s future tax position. AS 12, 

Income Taxes, requires the application of an "undistributed tax rate" in the calculation of deferred taxes, whereby deferred tax 

balances are measured at the tax rate applicable to Just Energy’s undistributed profits during the periods when Just Energy was an 

income trust. 

Deferred taxes have been recalculated on the revised accounting values for the adjustments A to G. 

I. Acquisition of minority interest 

CGAAP - The gain on the acquisition of minority interest, which occurred on January 1, 2011, was treated as a reduction to 

goodwill on the original acquisition. 

IFRS - The gain was reallocated to contributed surplus as this is considered an equity transaction 

J. Cash flow statements 

Cash flow statements prepared under AS 7, Statement of Cash Flows, present cash flows in the same manner as under previous 

GAAP. Other than the adjustments noted above, reclassifications between net earnings and the adjustments to compute cash 

flows from operating activities, there were no material changes to the consolidated statement of cash flows. 
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